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PRIVILEGED AND
CONFIDENTIAL
VIA E-MAIL AND U.S. MAIL
SUBJECT TO
PROTECTIVE ORDERS
Russa Boyd
Nicholas Weber

Non-Medical Class Action Team
CDCR Office of Legal Affairs
P.O. Box 942883

Sacramento, CA 94283-0001
Russa.Boyd@cdcr.ca.gov
Nicholas.Weber@cdcr.ca.gov

Re:  Armstrong v. Newsom/Coleman v. Newsom:

Staff Misconduct at Richard J. Donovan Correctional Facility
Our File Nos. 0581-03/0489-03

Dear Russa and Nick:

California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation (“CDCR”) must take
immediate steps to put an end to the rampant staff misconduct at Richard J. Donovan
Correctional Facility (“RJD”) that violates the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”),
the Armstrong Remedial Plan, and various court orders in these cases.

As we have noted in dozens of letters and multiple tour reports over the past two-
and-a-half years, correctional officers at RJD have systematically brutalized Armstrong
and Coleman class members and other vulnerable individuals. Officers routinely cause
significant injuries—broken bones, brain hemorrhages, concussions, and knocked out
teeth—without any justification and without, as far as we are aware, facing any meaning-
ful consequences, even when the same officers are involved in multiple incidents. In a
number of instances, staff have targeted Armstrong and Coleman class members because
of their disabilities, disability-related requests for accommodations, or complaints about
prior staff misconduct. The ever-present threat of violence has created an environment in
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which people with disabilities are afraid to ask for the accommodations to which they are
entitled for fear of becoming victims themselves.

Defendants in Armstrong and Coleman have met our allegations primarily with
silence, responding to only 5 of Plaintiffs’ counsel’s 22 letters requesting investigations. !
Despite the consistencies among allegations and multiple complaints against the same
officers, Defendants have yet to confirm a single violation of policy, suggesting the
investigation process is unfairly weighted in favor of exonerating staff and against our
clients. Compounding the problem, Defendants routinely fail to include disability-related
allegations of staff misconduct on their non-compliance logs, thereby violating the
Armstrong Court’s August 22, 2012 order (““Accountability Order”) and undermining
Plaintiffs’ counsel’s ability to access documents underlying Defendants’ investigations.
And the measures that Defendants have enacted at RJD to attempt to address the problem
at staff misconduct have been inadequate; Plaintiffs’ counsel continues to receive reports
of recent, disturbing incidents.

We will separately be serving discovery requests related to staff misconduct
against class members at RJD. Furthermore, unless CDCR agrees by January 1, 2020 to
robust remedial steps designed to put an end to the staff misconduct at RJD, we will file a
motion to protect our class members’ rights.

L. RJD Is Critical to CDCR’s Compliance in Armstrong, Coleman, and Other
Lawsuits on Behalf of People Who Have Disabilities and Are Marginalized
and Vulnerable

RJD, which houses more than 4,000 individuals on its five yards, has a significant
population of people who have disabilities and who are otherwise marginalized and
vulnerable. RJD has the second largest population of Armstrong class members of any
CDCR institution, trailing only CHCF. There were 978 people on RJID’s SOMS DECS
roster dated October 1, 2019, including 804 people with mobility impairments, 281
people who use wheelchairs, 209 people who are deaf or hard of hearing (including 13
who use sign language as their primary method of communication), and 32 people with

! In addition to these five responses, Plaintiffs’ counsel has received one “status update
letter” in which CDCR partially disposed of one allegation. Notably, Plaintiffs’ counsel
has not received responses—not even acknowledgment letters—to some staff misconduct
allegations raised in advocacy letters as old as March 2, 2018.
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vision impairments (including 16 DPV class members). Nearly every lower bunk
placement on a lower tier in the prison is occupied by an Armstrong class member.

RIJD houses nearly 2,200 Coleman class members, including 768 individuals at the
EOP level of care. See Attachment A. The prison has nearly 100 Clark class members
with developmental disabilities, including more than 60 individuals designated as DD2
and DD3. See Attachment B. Lastly, RJD houses to more than 1,500 incarcerated
people who are deemed high risk medical. See Attachment C.

What all of these people with disabilities, mental illness, and serious medical
conditions share are federally-protected rights to request and receive accommodations,
care, and other assistance from staff at RJD. Given CDCR’s decision to cluster
thousands of its neediest and most vulnerable people at RJD, the institution’s staff should
be especially sensitive and responsive to these issues. Instead, correctional officers at
RJD all too often attack the weak and retaliate against those who ask for help or speak up
about misconduct.

1I. CDCR Has Known for More Than Two Years that Staff Misconduct at RJD
Is Pervasive and Harming Armstrong and Coleman Class Members

CDCR is well aware of the scope of staff misconduct at RID. Since May 2017,
we have notified the defendants in Armstrong and Coleman, by letter and in Armstrong
monitoring reports, of more than fifty discrete allegations of staff misconduct against
Armstrong and Coleman class members at RJD. Many of the allegations were also
sent to the Office of the Inspector General.

Furthermore, following the August 2018 joint Armstrong audit of RJD conducted
by CDCR and Plaintiffs’ counsel, both our office and CDCR’s Office of Audits and
Court Compliance (“OACC”) independently notified the highest levels of CDCR,
including Secretary Diaz, of multiple, serious allegations of staff misconduct. See
Attachments D and E. OACC notified headquarters that Armstrong class members at
RJD reported “regular and ongoing incidents of misconduct, including allegations of staff
members assaulting inmates .... The inmates reported allegations about staff members
forcefully removing some inmates from wheelchairs; staff members assaulting inmates
that were already secured with restraint equipment; and inmates being accused of
assaulting officers when, in fact, it was the staff member who had assaulted the inmate.
Many of the details of staff misconduct alleged by the inmates were consistent, and some
of the inmates specifically identified a small group of second watch staff members
primarily responsible for the alleged actions.” See Attachment D at 1.
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Case 4:94-cv-02307-CW Document 2922-3 Filed 02/28/20 Page 6 of 321

PRIVILEGED AND CONFIDENTIAL
Russa Boyd

Nicholas Weber

November 13, 2019

Page 4

Incarcerated people have also filed at least twenty federal lawsuits alleging serious
misconduct by staff at RJD, including at least seven lawsuits in which the individuals are
represented by counsel.?

The allegations regarding staff misconduct at RJD follow a few persistent and
troubling themes. First, staff are targeting vulnerable and marginalized individuals,
including Armstrong and Coleman class members. A number of the reported incidents
are in direct response to individuals asking for help that CDCR is required to provide to
people with disabilities. For example, when one DPM class member asked for help
carrying a package that he was unable to lift while using his walker, a staff member
allegedly discharged an entire can of pepper spray in his face, struck him with the empty
can, and then kicked him in the ribs and stomach.? In another case staff reportedly denied
a person with a mobility impairment an extra shower as an accommodation for his
disability and, after he filed a grievance regarding the issue, threatened him and
ultimately orchestrated an assault on him by other incarcerated people.* One person was
allegedly thrown out of his wheelchair and then, while on the ground, was kneed in the
head by staff so hard it caused bleeding in his brain such that he had to be placed into a

2 See, e.g., Vaughn v. Hampton, 19-cv-01687-H-KSC (S.D. Cal.) (“Vaughn™)
(represented by counsel); Hoyt v. Valdovinos, 3:19-cv-01553-L-AGS (S.D. Cal.) (“Hoyt”)
(represented by counsel); Botts v. Sheppard, 3:19-cv-01387-DMS-RBM (S.D. Cal.)
(“Botts”) (represented by counsel); Tholmer v. Covello, 19-cv-01091-DMS-JLB (S.D.
Cal.) (“Tholmer”); Sidoti v. Solis, 19-cv-1028-GPS-NLS (S.D. Cal.) (“Sidoti”)
(represented by counsel); Ricker v. Salas, 3:19-cv-00807-DMS-LL (S.D. Cal.) (“Ricker”)
(represented by counsel); Garrett v. Diaz, 3:19-cv-00510-CAB-MSB (S.D. Cal.)
(“Garrett”); Garcia v. Kernan, 3:18-cv-02313-JLS-MSB (S.D. Cal.) (“Garcia”); Vasquez
v. Paramo, 3:18-cv-02097-GPC-MDD (S.D. Cal.) (“Vasquez”); Moody v. California
Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation, 3:18-cv-01110-WQH-AGS (S.D. Cal.)
(“Moody”) (represented by counsel); Hagan v. Rutledge, 3:17-cv-00847-AJB-AGS (S.D.
Cal.) (“Hagan”) (represented by counsel).

3 See Letter from Godbold to Boyd and Chen, Reports of Abuse of Mobility Impaired
Class Member at RJD, Nov. 9, 2018 (“Pepper Spray Letter”).

4 See Letter from Godbold to Boyd and Stuter, DPM Class Member,

B Cxperiencing Staff Misconduct at RJD, Feb. 26, 2019 (‘jjj Letter”); Letter
from Freedman to Boyd and Stuter, Supplemental Advocacy Letter re DPM Class
Member . - xpcriencing Staff Misconduct at RJD, Oct. 23,2019
(“Supplemental jLetter”).
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medically-induced coma.> When a transgender person reported feeling suicidal to an
officer, he told her to “go handle your business”; she proceeded to cut herself so badly
that she required 31 stitches.® People in prison at RJD report it is common to be mocked
by staff for asking for help and to be called disparaging names such “cripple” and “fag”
by officers.” CDCR’s own use of force data shows that class members are disproportion-
ately impacted; for the months of May 2018 to May 2019, approximately 89 percent of
use of force incidents at RJD involved Coleman class members, who make up just over
50 percent of the prison population.®

These assaults are often brazen and public, intimidating people in prison from
requesting needed help or reporting misconduct. In one attack, five staff members broke
a mentally ill person’s arm without any apparent justification for the use of force. Then,
staff denied him access to medical care for nearly six hours as he suffered in obvious pain
while other incarcerated people pleaded with staff to allow him to be taken to be seen by
medical staff.® In another brazen incident that is now the subject of a federal lawsuit,
three incarcerated people with disabilities were publicly attacked by multiple officers in
the middle of an occupied dayroom for doing nothing more than yelling at those officers
to stop beating a fellow prisoner.!? In the same building, which houses people with the

> See Sidoti, supra, note 2.

¢ See Letter from Freedman to Boyd, DPO, EOP Class Member J .
. Regarding Staff Misconduct at RJD, June 28, 2019 (‘|jjjijLetter”).

7 See Plaintiffs’ Report re: April 10-12, 2017 Monitoring Tour of R.J. Donovan
Correctional Facility, May 26, 2017 (“May 2017 Report”), at 5.

8 See COMPSTAT DAL Statistical Report at 195, available at
https://www.cdcr.ca.gov/research/wp-content/uploads/sites/174/2019/10/2019 05 DAI-
Reception-
Centers.pdf?label=Reception%20Centers&from=https://www.cdcr.ca.gov/research/comp
stat/

? See Letter from Freedman to Boyd, DNH, EOP Class Member, R
B Rcgarding Staff Misconduct at RJD, May 31, 2019 (jl] Lectter”); Letter
from Freedman to Boyd and Stuter, DNH, EOP Class Member, | NN
B Regarding Staff Misconduct at RJD, July 12, 2019 (“Supplemental |l
Letter”).

10 See Letter from Godbold to Boyd and Weber, Reports of Abuse of Class Members at
RJD, Mar. 2, 2018 (‘Jiilllct al. Letter”); Moody, supra, note 2.
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most severe disabilities and mental illness, staff reportedly beat another person
unconscious and then openly dragged his unconscious body down a flight of stairs,
allowing his head to slam on each step along the way while other incarcerated people
watched through their cell windows.!! When an elderly incarcerated person, who uses a
walker, reported his intention to go on a hunger strike, an officer slammed him to the
ground in the middle of the public recreation yard and then repeatedly jumped on his
back, while multiple staff members failed to intervene. According to witnesses, after the
attack, one of the officers was overheard stating “Anyone else feel like going on a hunger
strike?”!? There have been multiple reports of staff publicly parading or dragging their
victims, some of whom have been stripped to their underwear, across recreation yards in
the middle of the day.'?

Given the fear of staff assault, it is understandable that people at RJD are afraid to
speak up about the staff misconduct they are experiencing or witnessing. Officers
frequently threaten to or actually assault individuals who complain about staff
misconduct.'* Some officers reportedly pay incarcerated people to carry out violence on

11 See Letter from Godbold to Boyd, Staff Misconduct Allegation from Richard J.
Donovan Correctional Facility, Nov. 14, 2017 (“Stairs Letter”).

12 See Letter from Godbold to Boyd and Stuter, Class Member Experiencing Staff
Misconduct at RJD, Feb. 26, 2019 (“Unnamed Class Member Letter”).

13 See Letter from Godbold to Boyd, May 24, 2019 (‘i Letter”); Letter from
Freedman to Boyd and Stuter, DPO, EOP, Class Member || NN
Regarding Staff Misconduct at RJD, July 12, 2019 (‘|jjjiij Letter”); Plaintiffs’ Report re:
April 10-12, 2017 Monitoring Tour of R.J. Donovan Correctional Facility, May 26, 2017,
at 3-4.

14 See Letter from Godbold to Weber, EOP Class Member,
Regarding Staff Misconduct at RID, Oct. 10, 2019 (] Letter”); -Letter
Supplemental ] Letter; Letter from Godbold to Boyd and Stuter, Advocacy Letter re
DNH Class Member | " <pcricncing Staff Misconduct at RJD,
Feb. 26, 2019 (N Lctter”); Vaughn, supra, note 2; Letter from Godbold to Boyd
and Stuter, Staff Misconduct Against Class Member at R.J. Donovan Correctional
Facility in Retaliation for Participation in Joint Audit, Jan. 8, 2019 (‘|| Letter”);
Stairs Letter; Letter from Godbold to Boyd and Stuter, DNH Class Member N

, Experienced Staff Misconduct at RID, Apr. 18, 2019 (‘| il
Letter”); Ricker; Botts; Moody, all supra, note 2; |Jjjij ¢t al. Letter.

[3462933.1]
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their behalf.!®> Individuals often do not report misconduct or recant allegations due to this
omnipresent threat of retaliation.!® Some staff have reportedly gone so far as to
accompany people to medical evaluations following assaults to ensure that individuals do
not report the misconduct to the medical providers.!’

To further discourage reporting of misconduct and to discredit victims, staff often
falsely accuse their victims of assaulting staff or violating other prison rules.'® These rule
violations almost always result in “guilty” findings that can carry a loss of prison
privileges and sentencing credits and can lead to the denial of parole for those people in
prison with indeterminate sentences. These false guilty findings occur even when
evidence corroborating the incarcerated person’s story exists. In one case, a person at the
EOP level of care reported being kicked in the head twice by an officer. A psychologist
who observed the incident submitted an incident report that stated that, at the time the
officer kicked the incarcerated person in the head twice with “extreme force,” the
incarcerated person was not resisting and was compliant on the floor. The incarcerated
person complained about the excessive use of force and, in turn, was found guilty of
assaulting an officer during the incident. The hearing officer adopted the assaulting
officer’s version of events—that the officer slipped on discharged pepper spray, causing
him to accidentally strike the incarcerated person with his foot—notwithstanding the
psychologist’s report and the fact that other correctional officer witnesses did not

15 See Letter from Freedman to Boyd and Stuter, DPM Class Member, | N
I Rcgarding Staff Misconduct at RID, July 17, 2019 (‘| Letter”); IR
Letter; i Letter; Supplemental Jjjjj Letter; il Letter; Garrett; Ricker; Botts, all
supra, note 2.

16 See Letter from Godbold to Boyd and Stuter, DPM Class Member,
B Cxperiencing Staff Misconduct at RJD, Mar. 28 2019 (‘|| Letter”); Hoyt,
supra, note 2.

17 See I Lctter.

18 See I c<tter; I Lctter; JE Lctter; Pepper Spray Letter; Letter from
Godbold to Boyd and Stuter, DPM Class Member, , Experiencing
Staff Misconduct at RJD, Feb. 28, 2019 (‘|jjjiijLctter”); Garrett; Letter from Godbold to
Weber, EOP Class Member, ||l I Rcgarding Staff Misconduct at
RJD, Oct. 4, 2019 (‘N Letter”); I ct 2. Letter; Moody; Garcia; Hoyt, all supra,
note 2; Stairs Letter.
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corroborate the assaulting officer’s story.!” In another incident, a hearing officer
reportedly stated that he was going to adopt his officers’ version of events and find the
class member guilty, regardless of any information presented by the class member.?°

Some of the officers have engaged in repeated acts of staff misconduct. For
example, Plaintiffs’ counsel alone have reported on five separate incidents of staff
misconduct involving Officer [Jjjjij including multiple instances in which he allegedly
threatened and has acted on threats to hire incarcerated people to attack other incarcerated
people.?! Plaintiffs’ counsel has also reported on three separate incidents involving

Sergeant Jilj-> Nine other correctional officers (Officers | NN
I . <" [ and Sergeant [N have each been

identified in at least two reported instances of staff misconduct. As far as we are aware,
all of these officers continue to work at RJD and to have contact with, control over, and
responsibility for providing accommodations to disabled, mentally ill, and vulnerable
incarcerated people.

III. CDCR'’s Efforts to Combat Staff Misconduct at RJD Have Not Solved the
Problem

Defendants have provided limited information to Plaintiffs’ counsel regarding the
results of staff misconduct investigations and the steps taken at RJD to put an end to staff
misconduct. From November 14, 2017 to the present, Plaintiffs’ counsel has sent the
Armstrong and Coleman defendants 22 letters alleging specific instances of staff
misconduct. CDCR has responded to only 5 of those letters. Plaintiffs’ counsel also
raised a number of allegations of staff misconduct in Armstrong monitoring reports,
including the most recent report which was issued on May 3, 2019 and to which
Defendants have not yet responded. Remarkably, CDCR has not confirmed any of the
allegations raised by Plaintiffs’ counsel.

1 See N Letter.

20 See Letter from Freedman to Boyd and Stuter, Advocacy for || R
DPM, DNH, Regarding Staff Misconduct at RJD, Oct. 29, 2019 (] Letter”).

2! See i Letter; Supplemental ] Letter N Letter; I L tter; I <t 2!

Letter; Moody; Hoyt, all supra, note 2.

22 See Unnamed Class Member Letter; [Jjjilif ct- al Letter; Moody; Hoyt, all supra, note
2.
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In a letter dated February 6, 2019 and a telephone call on July 1, 2019, CDCR
informed Plaintiffs’ counsel that they have taken some steps to attempt to curb staff
misconduct at RID. Defendants informed Plaintiffs’ counsel that in December 2018,
CDCR conducted interviews with 20 percent of incarcerated people on Facility C and
initiated 43 investigations as a result of those interviews. Defendants stated that those
investigations had, as of July 1, 2019, led to 59 referrals to the Office of Investigative
Affairs, of which 39 were accepted, 15 were rejected, and 5 were pending. Plaintiffs’
counsel have not, however, been informed which allegations have been or are being
investigated and whether those investigations have confirmed any of the allegations.
Moreover, Defendants did inform Plaintiffs’ counsel that, as of July 1, 2019, there had
been no criminal referrals made to OIA.

In the February letter and July 1, 2019 telephone call, Defendants also informed
Plaintiffs’ counsel that, as of July 1, 2019: (1) RJD had moved eight staff members from
Facility C to the mailroom pending the results of investigations; (2) three staff members
had been dismissed for use of excessive force, though it is not clear if any of the
dismissals related to any of the incidents that we have raised with CDCR; and (3) RJD
had turned on previously-dormant cameras on Facility C that now cover part of the yard
and a part of the gym, though no cameras have been activated on any other facilities.

Defendants have not provided Plaintiffs’ counsel with any updates regarding the
situation at RJD since July 1, 2019. CDCR has not informed Plaintiffs’ counsel that any
of the officers involved have been disciplined or terminated. Class members report that
the vast majority of involved officers, including those with repeated allegations of
misconduct, remain at the prison in positions where they interact regularly with class
members.

Plaintiffs’ counsel continues to receive serious and concerning reports of recent
staff misconduct at RJD. These complaints demonstrate that any changes made by
CDCR to date have not solved the problem.

IV.  The Staff Misconduct at RJD Violates Class Members’ Rights

The environment that CDCR has tolerated at RJID—in which staff attack, threaten,
harass, abuse, and torture class members and other incarcerated people with impunity—
has directly resulted in widespread violations of class members’ rights under the ADA
and orders issued by the courts in Armstrong and Coleman.

[3462933.1]
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First, staff have targeted class members with misconduct because of their
disabilities. Our class members report being singled out for attack because they have
disabilities and are therefore less of a threat to fight back. Such conduct violates the
ADA, its implementing regulations, and portions of the Armstrong Remedial Plan with
which the Armstrong Court has ordered Defendants to comply. 42 U.S.C. § 12132 (*no
qualified individual with a disability shall, by reason of such disability, ... be subjected to
discrimination by any such entity.”); Armstrong Injunction, Jan. 17, 2007, at 9; ARP § L.

Second, the ongoing staff misconduct undermines the fundamental right at the
heart of the ADA: the ability to request and receive reasonable accommodations needed
to participate in CDCR programs, services, and activities. 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(b)(7)(1)
(““A public entity shall make reasonable modifications in policies, practices, or
procedures when the modifications are necessary to avoid discrimination on the basis of
disability, unless the public entity can demonstrate that making the modifications would
fundamentally alter the nature of the service, program, or activity.”); ARP § ILF. Our
clients frequently refrain from requesting accommodations out of fear of becoming a
victim of staff misconduct. And, as demonstrated by a number of the incidents discussed
above, when class members do request help, they often face retaliation. For Defendants
to comply with the ADA, incarcerated people who require accommodations must be able
to ask prison staff for help, and prison staff must respond appropriately to those requests.
So long as class members fear retaliation for requesting accommodations, RJD will
remain in violation of the ADA.

Third, because class members are afraid to ask for help and face retaliation when
they do so, CDCR is in violation of the ADA regulations and prior court orders requiring
a grievance system that provides prompt and equitable responses to complaints. 28
C.F.R. § 35.107(b); Armstrong Injunction, Jan. 17, 2007, at 9; ARP § IV.1.23.

Lastly, CDCR has, in violation of the Accountability Order, refused to log and
track instances of staff misconduct against class members on CDCR’s non-compliance
logs. The Armstrong Court specifically ordered Defendants to establish an accountability
system “to ensure that Defendants learned what was taking place in their facilities, in
order to find violations, rectify them and prevent them from recurring in the future,
without involvement by Plaintiffs’ counsel or the Court.” See Armstrong, Dkt. 2180 at
10. In response to 15 recent allegations of misconduct against Armstrong class members,
Defendants claim that only four allegations “relate” to Armstrong and therefore excluded
the remaining 11 from the Armstrong accountability process. See Attachment F.
Among the excluded allegations were a claim by one class member that he was assaulted
in response to his participation in the Armstrong Joint Audit process and an allegation by

[3462933.1]
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another class member that he was assaulted for asking for help carrying his property
because he was unable to do so with his walker. By excluding these and other disability-
related allegations from the accountability process, Defendants not only fail to comply
with the Armstrong Court’s order, but also deny Plaintiffs’ counsel the court-ordered
right to access the documents underlying Defendants’ investigations.

V. CDCR Must Take Immediate Steps to End the Violence at RJD

Unless Defendants, by January 1, 2020, devise a reasonable plan to end the
systemic staff misconduct at RJD, Plaintiffs will file a motion seeking relief from the
illegal conditions at the institution. Defendants’ plan should take into account the causes
of the misconduct and the barriers to CDCR’s ability to control the situation, including,
but not limited to: lack of training of staff regarding their obligations under the ADA and
the Armstrong Remedial Plan; poor culture among staff, including animus toward
Armstrong and Coleman class members and other needy and marginalized incarcerated
people; deficiencies in the process for investigating staff misconduct complaints;*
failures to adequately discipline officers found to have violated CDCR policy or the law;
a culture of silence among staff, possibly driven by the “Green Wall”;** and drug and cell
phone trafficking by staff, made possible, at least in part, by poor searches of staff
coming into the facility.?®

23 See Office of the Inspector General, Special Review of Salinas Valley State Prison’s
Processing of Inmate Allegations of Staff Misconduct, Jan. 2019, available at
https://www.oig.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/2019 Special Review_-
_Salinas_Valley_ State Prison_Staff Complaint Process.pdf; Testimony of Inspector
General Roy Wesley, California Assembly, Budget Subcommittee No. 5 on Public
Safety, Audio Recording at 1:54:00, Mar. 4, 2019 (“The [staff misconduct investigation]
process appears entirely driven by the purpose to exonerate staff.””), available at
https://www.assembly.ca.gov/media/assembly-budget-subcommittee-5-public-safety-
20190304/audio.

24 We have been told by multiple people at RJD that some of the violence—especially on
the Level IV maximum security facility (Facility C) at RID—is driven by “Green Wall”
officers. We have also been told that some of the officers who are involved in multiple
reports of staff misconduct are the same officers who are engaged in other criminal
activities on the yard, including the trafficking of drugs and cell phones.

25 The United States Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of California has brought
a series of cases over the past three years related to drug and cell phone smuggling at
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In light of the complex multitude of factors contributing to the violation of class
members’ rights, Defendants should consider including the following elements in their
plan:

o Full camera coverage of the institution, including on all yards and in all
housing and programming spaces

o Mandatory body cameras for all correctional officers
o Expedited implementation at RJD of CDCR’s new investigation process
. Disciplining, terminating, and, if warranted, referring for criminal

prosecution officers who have violated CDCR policy and/or the law

o Suspending officers who are credibly accused of staff misconduct so that
they cannot continue to harass class members during the pendency of
investigations

RJD. See Press Release, Department of Justice, https://www.justice.gov/usao-
sdca/pr/former-corrections-officer-inmates-and-others-arrested-drug-smuggling-
conspiracy; Kristina Davis, “Former Donovan prison supervisor charged in cellphone
smuggling bribery scheme,” San Diego Union-Tribune, Feb. 14, 2019, available at
https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/news/courts/sd-me-prison-cellphones-20190214-
story.html. Recently an incarcerated person was sentenced in federal court to twenty
years in prison for his role in a cell phone and drug smuggling ring at RJD in which at
least one officer, || Bl participated. See City News Service, “Prison inmate
sentenced to 20 years in prison for drug smuggling conspiracy,” San Diego Union -
Tribune, Sep. 24, 2019, available at https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/news/public-
safety/story/2019-09-24/prison-inmate-sentenced-to-20-years-in-prison-for-drug-
smuggling-conspiracy. Drugs have ravaged RJD, with overdoses at the prison increasing
more than 150% from 2017 to 2018. See Megan Cassidy, “Overdoses in California
prisons up 113% in three years — nearly 1,000 incidents in 2018,” San Francisco
Chronicle, May 5, 2019, available at https://www.sfchronicle.com/crime/article/
Overdoses-in-California-prisons-up-113-in-three-13819811.php.

We also note that we have visited RJD many times and are generally shocked with
the cursory searches to which staff and official visitors are subject upon entering the
facility.
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o The creation of an early warning system that tracks misconduct allegations
by officer, shift, unit, etc.

o Improving searches of staff entering the institution to reduce the amount of
drugs and cell phones in the prison

o Seeking a court order to suspend state law if any provisions of state law
impede Defendants’ ability to end staff misconduct at RJD

We will also be serving requests for production and a person-most-knowledgeable
deposition notice related to staff misconduct against class members at RID. These
discovery requests are necessary in light of Defendants’ near-total failure to provide us
information regarding the status and outcome of investigations into staff misconduct at
RID.

We look forward to discussing these issues further with you in the coming weeks.

Very truly yours,

ROSEN BIEN
GALVAN & GRUNFELD LLP

/sl Gay Crosthwait Grunfeld
By: Gay Crosthwait Grunfeld

GCG:cg

Enclosures

cc: (via email only) Ed Swanson Sean Lodholz
Coleman Special Master Team Roy Wesley (w/o encls.) Annakarina
Kelly Mitchell Bruce Beland De La Torre-Fennell
Elise Thorn Alexander Powell Damon McClain
Melissa Bentz Patricia Ferguson Joanna Hood
Eureka Daye Tamiya Davis Armstrong Co-Counsel

Adriano Hvartin Armstrong OLA Coleman Co-Counsel
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State of California

Depariment of Corrections and Rehabilitation

Memorandum

Date : December 10, 2018

To :  Kimberly Seibel
Associate Director
Reception Centers Mission
California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation

Subject.  FINDINGS OF INMATE INTERVIEWS AT RICHARD J. DONOVAN
CORRECTIONAL FACILITY, DECEMBER 4-5, 2018

On December 4-5, 2018, a team was assembled and deployed to Richard J. Donovan
Correctional Facility (RJD), with the purpose of conducting a series of inmate
interviews in an attempt to find facts related to a serious complaint brought forward by
plaintiffs’ attorneys during recent tours of the facility. Specifically alleged in that
complaint (copy attached) were the following:

Inmates complaining of inappropriate force being used by staff members.
Inmates alleging these staff are targeting “vulnerable” inmates for such
assaults.

Inmates alleging that although these incidents of serious force originate with
staff, the incidents are turned into allegations by staff that the inmates
assaulted staff first, and resulted in disciplinary action against the inmates.

The above behaviors were largely isolated to RJD’s Facility C.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

A comprehensive review of the inmate interview results indicated repeated allegations
of the following:

HIGHLY CONFIDENTIAL — ATTORNEYS’' EYES ONLY — ARMSTRONG V. NEWSOM (C 94-2307 CW)

Abuse of authority, and excessivefunnecessary force being used and not
reported.

Custody staff inhibiting all inmate avenues for redress of grievances, filing a
staff complaint, or requesting help with a safety concern.

Unchecked Security Threat Group {STG) activity.

Mentally disordered offenders, developmentally disabled offenders, sex
offenders, and homosexual/transgender offenders being targeted for assauit
and/or abuse by staff.

Gang-like activity among custody staff.

Inadequate, insufficient, and absent supervisory and managerial oversight.
Physical plant design flaws, contributing to the above problems.
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METHODOLOGY

The review team was comprised entirely of experienced custody investigative staff
from institutions throughout the Southern region, excluding those presently employed
at RJD. Fourteen (14) custody staff, who had completed the Basic Investigator’s
Cource (BIC), were accompanied by seven (7) ombudspersons, under the local
coordination of an independent associate warden.

A random selection of inmates from Facility C, RJD, was made targeting 20% of the
current population of approximately 730 inmates. The randomized selection of
inmates was conducted and certified by the Office of Research (see attached
memorandum). The review team interviewed cooperating inmates from this list
exclusively.

Inmates were interviewed in locations offering visual and auditory privacy, by teams
comprised of two custody interviewers (at least one of which held a rank of sergeant
or lieutenant), and one ombudsperson. For this purpose, the interviews took place in
RJD’s Facility B/C Visiting area, in multiple private office spaces available in that area.
The inmate interviews were guided by an interview worksheet (sample copy
attached), specifically designed for this review. All inmate interviews were digitally
audio recorded, and archived. Likewise, all completed inmate interview sheets were
scanned and archived.

Numerous precautions were taken to ensure the best possible chance of cooperation
by the inmate population, and mitigate the chance of any inmate or RJD staff member
discouraging any inmate's participation in the interview process. These precautions
included (1) keeping the nature of the inquiry confidential to all RJD staff with the
exception of the Warden and Chief Deputy Warden, (2) ensuring no information of the
nature of the inquiry reached any staff outside of a very tight need-to-know circle
(even the review team members were not informed of the nature of the inquiry until
the first day of interviews), (3) informing each inmate interviewee of the criticality of
their input to the success of the inquiry, and soliciting their cooperation in maintaining
confidentiality of the process, and (4) utilizing exclusively RJD supervisory custody
staff not assigned to Facility C to conduct escorts of inmate interviewees to and from
the interview location.

INTERVIEW RESULTS

A total of 150 inmates were identified based on the list provided by the Office of
Research (list attached). All 150 inmates were approached by the team of RJD
supervisory custody staff, and instructed to accompany them to the interview location.
Inmates were informed they did not have the option of refusing to come to the
interview, but could refuse to the interview team. Inmates were not made aware of
the nature of the interview untii they reached the interview room.
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Richard J. Donovan Correctional Facility — inmate Interview Findings — December 2018

Specific Concerns Raised by Interviewees:

The interviewees were asked a patterned series of questions from a standardized
worksheet. Some key indicator questions were drawn from this which provide insight
into the inmates’ experiences on Facility C (please see attached data spreadsheet of
interview resuits). All data provided below is drawn from inmate interview categories
2-4,

When asked to describe how inmates at RJD are treated by other inmates, 51
inmates responded they are treated negatively by other inmates, 26 indicated they are
treated positively by other inmates, and 24 inmates were neutral on the matter.

Inmates stating they were treated negatively regularly voiced concerns of inmates
“working for” custody staff, assaulting other inmates at the request of custody staff,
and of inmates having their property stolen by other inmates with the permission of
custody staff. These interviewees also commonly indicated STG, especially the

are employed most frequently by Ws their “hit squad.” Other references
were made to the inmate groups, I -

I -2 of whom allegedly assault, intimidate and otherwise harass other
inmates at the behest of custody staff.

Inmates who provided neutral responses to this question largely made statements
such as, “I just keep my head down and don't look for trouble,” or “I just do my own
time,” and several versions of, “I don’t care to comment.” These statements in and of
themselves can indicate a problematic culture.

When asked to describe how inmates at RJD are treated by staff, the numbers shifted
toward the negative. Sixty-five inmates indicated they are treated negatively by staff.
Twenty-two indicated staff treat them positively, and 14 provided no opinion.

Inmates responding that staff treat them negatively consistently made allegations
including, (1) custody staff using STGs to conduct assauits and otherwise harass
other inmates, (2) custody staff actively retaliating against inmates for filing appeals or
staff complaints, or requesting assistance with safety concerns, (3) custody staff
choosing not to respond immediately to fights, and not reporting them when they
occur, {(4) and custody staff refusing to provide inmates involved in fights access to
health care services.

Interviewees alleged custody staff retaliation regularly takes the form of (1) having
STG inmates assault other inmates in private locations such as the gym, or “fight
alley” which is described as locations of limited visibility (aka: “blind spots”) |}

_ (2) escorting the victim to a private location where they would be
subject to assault by inmates and/or custody staff, and (3) abuse of personal property,
such as having victims’ cells opened when they were not present, and allowing other
inmates free access to take whatever property they wanted.

Interviewees alleged custody staff largely target inmates who are participants in the
Mental Health Services Delivery System (MHSDS), inmates who are developmentally
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disabled (DDP), inmates who identify as transgender or homosexual, and inmates
who have committed sex offenses.

Several indicator questions regarding general inmate observations and experiences
are summarized in the table below.

QUESTION YES NO UNK/REF
Do the staff at RJD treat you with dignity and 69 (68%) 31 (31%) 1(1%)
respect?

Do the staff at RJD treat all inmates equalty? 34 (34%) 59 (60%) 6 (6%)
Would you say there is a problem at this 58 (58%) 37 (37%) 5 (5%)
prison with certain inmates being more

vulnerable to mistreatment than others?

Do you feel you are safe living here? 74 (73%)* 26 (26%) 1 (1%)
Have you been the subject of mistreatment by 31 (31%) 70 (69%)

staff at RJD in the last year or so?

Have you or any inmate you know personally 65 (64%) 35 (35%) 1 (1%)
witnessed another inmate(s) mistreated by

staff at RUD within the last year or so?

*Numerous inmates who indicated they feel safe living on Facility C, qualified this by (a) stating they
keep to themselves and avoid trouble, (b) acknowledging other inmates are in trouble, or (c) stating
something to the effect that “If you just do what you're told and don't complain there's nothing to worry
about.”

Interviewers heard repeated indications of gang-like activity by custody staff. Inmates
consistently alleged the problems are largely with custody staff assigned to the yard
(i.e., security patrols, yard officers, and search and escort officers) on both second
and third watches, but most prominently during third watch. Inmates readily attribute
this to a lack of supervisory presence and oversight, which they also claim is
pronounced on third watch due to reduced staffing.

Inmates consistently spoke of a core group of anywhere from 4 to 7 officers as the
repeat offenders, and provided names of officers they had observed engaging in
misconduct. A complete list of these staff names has been provided to RJD’s
Warden and Chief Deputy Warden for follow-up, including names of staff inmates
identified as being “good” or who were known to have tried to stop other staff's
negative behaviors in the past. These also would be important to identify for follow-up
interviews.

inmates also identified the yard staff who are
problematic identify themselves by the wearing of

(see picture, right). Inmates alleged
the indicates a group_of officers who identify as
" and is worn by a

iroui identifying as a custody version of
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Inmates further alleged that the previously-mentioned _ is a group of
largely inmates, who follow the orders of the custody officers, and
are iermitted to wear

. Following the team’s receipt of this information, | made several
walks through the institution, and two tours of Facility C, during which | did not

_
These walks were conducted approximately between the hours of

1000 and 1200.

Inmates stated areas of the yard where problems are most frequent include the front
of the dining hall, and the gym (both inside and
Inmates also indicated the “tunnels” or sallyport areas in the entryway of
each of the 270-design buildings, are confined spaces with limited visibility used for
targeted assaults. Inmates often spoke of yard staff using the procession of inmates
coming out of the dining hall as a target rich environment to pick victims from and
harass them. Interviewees alleged if the inmate chosen by staff is not 100%
cooperative with them, or staff perceive any kind of disrespect, the inmate will be
assaulted by the officers on the spot, often with excessive force. Inmates stated
custody supervisors are rarely present, so many of these incidents go unreported.

Respondents asserted fights between inmates occur regularly, and custody staff are
exceedingly siow to respond. Custody staff are alleged to have watched numerous
fights proceed long past the point where duty would require them to intervene.
Inmates frequently stated custody staff will at some point tell the inmates to “knock off
the horseplay.” This, according to some inmates, was the cue to stop fighting, or
custody staff would begin using force. Inmates iargely concurred when custody staff
did finally respond to such incidents, their use of force would always be excessive,
involving kicking inmates (often in the head and face) who were already prone and
compliant. Inmates stated these instances of unnecessary or excessive force were
never reported by custody staff, and were alleged to have simply been injuries
sustained due to the inmates’ combative behavior.

interviewees made numerous references to inmates being “taken to the gym” or
behind the gym by custody staff to fight each other, and the ioser of the fight would
then be assaulted by custody staff, again with no reporting and no medical attention
being provided to the involved/injured inmates. Inmates also told interviewers that if
they saw an inmate being escorted alone into the gym, it was because he was going
to be assaulted by custody staff. Multiple inmates stated if an alarm was sounded in
the gym, medical staff responding to the gym would be held outside the gym by
custody staff until the incident was over and all inmates were in restraints, allegedly to
prevent them from witnessing any excessive use of force.

Based on the feedback from interviewees regarding the key locations in which these
incidents are alleged to be occurring, | personally toured Facility C. | was
accompanied by the regularly-assigned 5-day lieutenant on second watch. | observed
Facility C is comprised of 5 housing units, of 270-design. Buildings

situated to face toward each other, and are separated from Buildings
by a series of fences running down the center of the yard. Buildings

6
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are likewise turned inward to face each other. The result however, is that-
re partially obscured from view by

. During times of mass movement,
when the control booth staff in these buildings is conducting a release or a recall, they

would be
. Therefore, without their attention, and being blocked from

there are effectively ubstantial blind spots in
which violence could occur unobserved.

| also observed the area
to be an area of limited visibility due to several combined factors. First, the

€ use Oor 1orce policy
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rohibits
Combined, these factors make this another area of very high likelihood for
altercations to go unobserved, and unchecked.

Additionally | toured the Facility C Gym. Upon entering the gym | observed it vacant
of any staff or inmates. In one of many efforts to improve supervisory and
administrative presence and accountability on Facility C, the current administration
has relocated the Associate Warden over Facility C to an office inside the Facility C

iim. | did not io inside the office, but observed _

A second office is located
According to the lieutenant | toured with, this office had been provided
to the yard officers as a place to store their lunch boxes, jackets, etc. Upon touring
this office, | noted numerous items of personal property, including banners on the
wall, one of which indicated, “Mess with the best, die like the rest,” and another with
the archtypical coiled serpent, reading “Don’'t tread on me.” | passed these
observations on to RJD’s Warden and Chief Deputy Warden as potential indicators of
the present mindset amongst the staff using that space. | recommended they no

longer be allowed to use this space and be assigned another space affording closer
supervision.

Appeals, Staff Complaints, and Safety Concerns:

Interviewers questioned inmates regarding their confidence in the appeals process
and/or that RJD staff would provide them with assistance and protection if requested:
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QUESTION YES NO UNK/REF
Do you believe staff at RJD would assist you 41 (41%) 53 (52%) 6 (6%)
if you had a safety concern?

Do you believe staff at this prison would 30 (30%) 62 (61%) 9 (9%)
assist you if you reported a concern of staff

misconduct?

Have you witnessed any inmate at RJD be the

victim of retaliation for [filing a complaint or 52 (563%) 44 (44%) 3 (3%)
requesting assistance with a safety concern]?

Inmate interviewees displayed low confidence in bringing complaints and safety
concerns forward to staff, the majority plainly stating negative repercussions would
come to any inmate who did so:

QUESTION Positive Negative Neutral
Response Response

What can an inmate at RJD expect when

filing a staff complaint, or coming forward to 19 (20%)
make an allegation of unnecessary or

excessive force?

*Negative responses encompassed a range of outcomes., anywhere from "nothing will come of it," to
indications custody staff will retaliate through cell searches, property seizure, targeting the inmate for

assault, and planting a weapon on them or in their property. (nmates who stated they were neutral or
refused to answer sometimes stated they would not answer the question for fear of reprisal.

66 (70%)* 8 (9%)

Many inmates indicated their lack of confidence in the appeals and staff complaint
process arises from their belief the appeals process is not confidential. Inmates
frequently stated it was difficult even getting an appeal form into the drop box; inmates
also stated they had observed custody staff removing appeals from the drop boxes.
Inmates also believe the captain's secretary is breaking the confidentiality of the
appeals. They alleged within 24 hours of an inmate dropping off an appeal, and it
being picked up by the captain’s secretary, retaliation begins.

Several inmates alleged a few different types of retaliation they had observed or
suffered as a result of having filed an appeal or staff complaint, or having requested
assistance with a safety concern. These included such things as (1) having their
property seized or damaged by custody staff, (2) custody staff locking them in the
shower in handcuffs and announcing to the inmate population in the building that they
would receive no program (i.e., no television, no dayroom, no showers, etc.) due to
the inmate with safety concerns, (3) and custody staff providing other inmates with
confidential details of the case factors of the inmate claiming safety concerns, and
forcing the inmate to go back to his cell and suffer potential assault by numerous
inmates at a later time.

Inmates also stated in order to escape this cycle of retaliation, they often felt forced to
resort to self-injurious behavior to prove suicidality. However, in more than one

interview, inmates stated custody staff had informed them that until the injuries were
serious enough to be believable, they were not going to call medical or mental health

9
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staff for the inmate. Inmates alleged staff told them, “That's not enough blood,” or
“Show me you're serious,” or words to that effect.

When asked whether they had witnessed staff use force on another inmate at RJD in
the past year or so, that they considered to be unnecessary or excessive, 64 inmates
(63%) indicated they had. When asked some follow-up questions, regarding the
presence and actions of other staff in the area, other concerns emerge:

QUESTION YES NO
Did you observe any staff attempt to intervene? 4 38
Did you observe staff nearby who should have 30 9
intervened, not do so?

Did you or any other inmate(s) you know of report the 11 26
misconduct?

Notably, numerous inmates indicated the bystanding custody staff who did not
intervene often included supervisors.

When asked about their perceptions and observations of custody staff's use of the
inmate disciplinary process, their responses did seem to indicate some support for the
plaintiffs’ concerns.

QUESTION YES NO
Have you or any other inmate you know received a rule 38 (38%) 61 (61%)
violation report that you know was intentionally falsified?

Have you or any inmate you know been charged with 44 (44%) 56 (55%)
resisting or assaulting staff, for simply defending

themselves from staff's unnecessary or excessive force?

10
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SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

Facility C, RJD, houses Level IV inmates, with a large EOP population, a significant
CCCMS population, is designated for housing developmentally disabled inmates, and
is further designated as SNY. Each of these five populations alone carries with it an
acknowledged association with an increased rate of disciplinary offenses, appeals,
requests for assistance with safety/enemy concerns, and incident reports. With the
five combined on a single facility, it is no stretch to imagine the abundance of
paperwork being generated on a daily basis by staff, if their duties were carried out
according to policy.

When supervisory staff's hours are consumed by processing daily paperwork, little
time if any may remain for active supervision. In order to obtain any kind of breathing
room in their daily duties, an attitude might develop discouraging custody staff in
general against using documentation of inmate behavior as a tool, and encouraging
the use of communication and other informal incentives (e.g., preferential treatment)
to control behavior. Theoretically, this direction, without the training, oversight, and
guidance of active supervisors, can allow negative communication to go uncorrected,
and continue to worsen over time.

The inmate allegations, taken as a whole, seem to describe an environment with no
relief mechanism for inmates who feel mistreated by custody staff. There are several
repeated general claims which form the basis for this alleged environment, including:

o Appeals are not filed, because they are blocked by custody, and inmates are
nearly unanimous that retaliation will follow,

e Inmates do not file staff complaints or allege inappropriate use of force, again
because of the retaliation,

s [Inmates either “hide” within their daily routines and suffer minor abuse in
order to avoid greater abuses, or join the ranks of inmates who bully and
abuse other inmates at the behest of custody staff, and

» Without inmate appeals being filed, staff complaints being reviewed, incident
reports being filed and reviewed, or supervisory oversight on the facility, there
is zero accountability.

REVIEW TEAM RECOMMENDATIONS

The review team notes numerous positive changes have already been implemented
in recent months by prison administrators to combat these issues. Notably among
these has been a complete change in numerous leadership positions including
Associate Warden, Captain, ISU Lieutenant, Appeals Coordinator, and Litigation
Coordinator. Additionally, the Associate Warden and Captain responsible for Facility
C have had their offices relocated to Facility C. The Associate Warden's office is now
inside the Facilty C Gym. The Warden and CDW are taking an active role in
ensuring managerial and supervisory oversight and accountability for Facility C, and
are vigorously pursuing any and all information indicating any staff misconduct. The

11
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review team notes the staff at RJD was friendly and welcoming without exception
during this review, evidence of a changing cuiture. The review team recognizes this
as a prime example of this administration’'s leadership.

Nonetheless, the review team has the following recommendations based on the
findings of this review in totality:

1. Live feed cameras to be installed in all areas of limited or obstructed visibility,
including the blind spots
-, at the front and rear docks of the Dining Hall, and inside the housing units, to
include inside each sallyport. Cameras should be accessible for remote viewing
by supervisory and administrative staff at all hours. Cameras should record
constantly, such that the digital footage can be extracted for use in evaluation of
incidents for use of force review, including inmate and staff discipline, as well as in
support of any charges of criminal misconduct by inmates or staff.

2. Prompt review should be made of all actionable information brought forward by
inmate interviewees (i.e., category 4). A brief summarized listing of these is
provided later in this report, for reference purposes; however the review should
include a thoughtful consideration of all information recorded by the interview team
(including audio recording of the interviews), and a careful comparison to any
existing reports or accounts of these situations to attempt to detect any

. indication(s) of staff misconduct.

3. The review team urges the Department to provide the resources necessary for a
comprehensive STG review to be conducted on Facility C, RJD. This review
should include in-depth searches and interviews by trained, experienced institution
gang investigation staff, with appropriate follow-up for any inmate having
significant ties to STG activity.

4. Increased supervisory and managerial presence on Facility C during all hours, but
particularly during non-business hours. Requirement of frequent, unannounced
and unscheduled managerial and AOD tours during non-business hours.
Requirement for custody supervisors to be present at all times and locations of
mass inmate movement.

NOTE: This may warrant further review by PSU to determine whether supervisory
staffing supplementation is indicated.

5. Rank-and-file custody staff should be restricted from access to areas of low
visibility, by removal of keys and/or changing of locks to ensure supervisors are
accountable for staff access to these areas. Custody staff access to the office in
the gym currently afforded to them should be discontinued immediately.

6. Custody supervisors should be charged with enforcing uniform policy, to include
disallowing non-approved apparel to be worn with the uniform _
12
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7. Custody staff, including supervisors, should be provided mandatory remedial
training on effective communication techniques for mentally disordered and
developmentally disabled offenders, and equal employment opportunity policy.

8. The review team recommends changing local practice regarding collection of
appeals to require this process to be completed by the Facility Captain or Appeals
Coordinator only. Additionally, it is recommended that the institution explore ways
the inmate population may submit appeals in a more secure manner, without
involving custody staff as a possible barrier to the appeals process.

This information is submitted for your review with the above-noted recommendations.
Also, see the attached list of specific recommendations for individualized follow-up.

Should you have any questions or concerns, please contact me at your convenience,
at (909) 927-7848, or via email at jason.bishop@cdcr.ca.gov.

3 éiate Warden
alifornia Institution for Men

Attachments (4)

1. September 20, 2018 letter, by Rosen Bien Galvan & Grunfeld LLP, to Raiph Diaz,
Secretary, CDCR, Re: Armstrong v. Brown: Staff Misconduct at RJD

2. December 3, 2018 memorandum, Data Request 1811-163: Randomized List of 20
Percent of Inmates in Housing Areas 11 through 15 of Facility C at the Richard J.
Donaovan Correctional Facility as of December 3, 2018, (with list)

3. RJD Inquiry Inmate Interview Worksheet (blank)

4. Interview Results (Excel Spreadsheet)
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SPECIFIC ALLEGATIONS RECOMMENDED FOR IMMEDIATE FOLLOW-UP:

_— Claims to have knowledge of an officer who brings in cell phones
and drugs.

_ — Provided 3 years of documented daily observations, incuding
numerous accounts of staff misconduct. Recommend thorough review of this record,
and follow-up interview.

—~ States 2 weeks ago observed a DPW inmate subject to UOF,
resulting in a broken neck. Also claims he reported staff unnecessary force 2 days
prior, which did result in recorded interview by ISU Sgt.

_w States he observed staff “stomp” a DPW inmate - in Building

13, cell I States he knows names of staff involved.

_— States he observed incidents on 3/7/18 and 4/5/18 involving an
inmate fight staff did not respond to, and staff striking an inmate with a mop bucket.

States specific knowledge of staff providing tobacco to inmates to “remove” an inmate
from the facility.

States he observed a named officer threaten to hit him during chow,
but was stopped by a named lieutenant. Observed other similar incidents involving
staff he can name, 3 months ago.

I - Stotes the night before the interview, an inmate in the cell next to him
was assaulted by custody staff and dragged down the stairs.

_— Claims an incident of excessive force in July 2018, involving an

inmate assaulting him, and the inmate got beat up by officers.

— Inmate claims he was assaulted by other inmates, as instructed by

staff, while staff he had 602'd watched. Also has specific knowledge of an inmate
whose property was taken due to having filed a 602.

_ Claims officer told him he could get a job with officers for beating

up other inmates.

— Claims specific knowledge of staff allowing STG inmates into
another inmate’s cell as retaliation. Also has specific knowledge of named custody
officer refusing to summon medical assistance for inmate in distress. States 5
months ago, he observed officers stomping an inmate in the chow hall.

_— States a DPW inmate was OC sprayed for a piece of cake.

-~ Observed named staff remove an inmate’s dreadlocks and
spray them with OC pepper spray. States he has information of an inmate who
witnessed a gay inmate subject to excessive force by named officers, and had a
weapon planted on him by staff, for filing appeals.

14
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_—- States the night before the interview an inmate was “taken out” by
staff for filing a citizens complaint. Has information of specific staff using excessive
force on an inmate, planting a weapon on the inmate, and a specific officer tried to
stop it.

— States on November 6" he requested to go to ASU, and was
beaten up by staff who took him out to the hospital. States staff beat up his named
celimate because he was a child molester, and charged him with staff assault.

_... States her boyfriend got stabbed and kicked in the face by a named
officer.

_ — States a named inmate got beaten up with a brick by staff 2

months ago, and was left on the yard 30 minutes.

_ Inmate states he is willing to identify specific staff in creating “fight
alley.” Also states a specific inmate 4 weeks ago tried to get suicide help, and cut
himself too deeply, ending up dying. Has observed specific staff allow other inmates
to go into inmates cells to assauit them.

_—— Has a book with specific dates of incidents, not brought to the
interview. Has specific information of staff unnecessary force, unreported. Has
names, custody and non-custody “brown card holder.”

_— Observed officers have inmates jump on another inmate. 60-90
days ago observed 5 officers striking an older inmate for disrespect. A couple of days
ago, states he observed named officers jump on an EOP inmate in a wheelchair.

_-~ Names numerous specific staff involved in misconduct, including
excessive force against a named DDP inmate. Also states he observed an inmate
dragged from one cell into another by specific named staff, after claiming safety
concerns. States his cellmate observed misconduct and wrote the state bar.

_ - States 1 month ago an inmate walked away from staff and was
beat up in the “tunnel” (building sallyport). States he observed 2 officers stomping on
one inmate by the handball court.

— States his celimate was sprayed and kicked in the face after
being handcuffed.

_ — Witnessed specific officers assault named inmate and break his

jaw.

_— Personal knowledge of specific named staff having inmates beat
another inmate up for disrespect. Claims knowledge of staff bringing in contraband
for inmates.

— Personal knowledge of specific staff using unnecessary force,
assaulting DPW inmate. Has knowledge of staff planting a weapon in an inmate cell
following the inmate testifying on behalf of another inmate. States an officer placed a
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strangle hold on an inmate 1-1.5 years ago over some tobacco, the inmate died.
States 2 months ago an inmate was beaten so bad by cops, yelling stop resisting,
they broke his back and the inmate died.

— Names staff who challenged an inmate to fight, then smashed the
inmate’s TV. States 7-8 months ago a northern inmate said something to an officer,
and they sent STGs {o beat him up, for being disrespectful. Names specific staff.

- States May 2018 an inmate was beaten by custody staff for
requesting a cell move due to incompatibility with cellmate.

— States he observed named custody staff beat an inmate in July
2018, knocking inmate’s teeth out.

—~ Inmate went off interview script and provided meaningful information.
Recommend full review of audio recording.

F—« States he observed named inmate assaulted 2 months ago in
rotunda by specific named staff. States another case of staff abuse of authority on
Thanksgiving, which was allegedly video and audio recorded. Specific knowledge of
named staff allowing inmates into another inmate’s cell to steal property.

_ Claims his cellmate was beaten. Recommend interview of cellmate.
Also recommends specific inmate for interview (inmate was on interview list, and
provided substantial information).

— Claims his cousin was getting beaten by custody, he jumped up to
stop it and was taken to ASU.

— States he observed an inmate beaten with baton, and left on
EOP vyard knocked out, by third watch officers. States he has been given specific
“rules” by custedy staff that go against the use of force policy, and other policy
requirements. Mentions recent incident of this in July 2018 with a sergeant.

— States the inmate who was killed 2 weeks ago had his property stolen
right before he was killed. Also claims he heard an inmate was raped, claims staff
were aware and it was not reported. Identifies an inmate with the moniker of "
who is always filing paperwork and getting his property stoien.

— States he observed named staff kick an inmate 4 or 5 times after he
was down. States a named sergeant tried to stop it and ordered staff to stop using
excessive force.

"u Observed several incidents, involving named staff assaulting
inmates or failing to intervene in assaults.

- Observed a named inmate beaten up by a named officer while 2
other officers watched. Has knowledge of named staff beating an inmate and then
saying the inmate tried to hit them. [Interviewer recommends review of audio
recording for more specific, detailed information.]

16
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— Has knowledge of named staff using force against an inmate in a
specific location 2 months ago, and then 4 officers beat the inmate, took him to the
gym, and beat him again. Has knowledge of a named inmate beaten, spit mask
placed on him, shot and beaten again, in May 2018.

— Personally witnessed named staff beating up inmates frequently.
One occurred in the shower, the inmate never returned.

-~ States his cellmate was beaten up 1 month ago at the chow hall.
Names staff involved. States cellmate was written up.

_ — Names specific staff beating up named inmates without cause.
Personal observations of named staff using excessive force, causing SBI. States he

observed a sergeant watching, not intervening.

_ —~ Observed incident of excessive UOF by named officer and a
supervisor 6 months ago. Inmate did not receive medical attention afterward.
Observed an officer remove appeais from the drop box 3 days ago.

_ Observed named inmate arguing with staff in chow hall. After the
inmate and staff went into the chow hall, an ambulance arrived.

_ — Claims 1.5 months ago, a native American inmate was taken out
during first watch for suicide attempt. Walked out that night, but later died.

_~ States he was assaulted by named officer a year ago in a building
sallyport. States officer stomped on his head. Also states officers are having inmates

remove shoes for escorts, walking them through the gravel barefoot.

_ — States yesterday he observed staff bully an old black inmate,
kicking him and throwing his property away. Knows of an inmate who was assaulted
by staff, ducked staff's punch resulting in the officer hitting another officer, and then
got beaten worse.

— Named staff who pulled an inmate out of a wheelchair. The
inmate withdrew his staff complaint. There was no video taped interview. Also states
he has knowledge of inmates stopping using the appeals process, now are gathering
personal information on staff members for unknown purpose.

17
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State of California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation

Memorandum EMPLOYEE CONFIDENTIAL

Date : January 26, 2018

To 1 P.Covelio
Warden (A)
Richard J. Donovan Correctional Facility

Subject: Richard J. Donovan Correctional Facility, Facility C, further investigation/referral:

On Monday, January 14, 2019, | Correctional Sergeant- California
Institution for Men lnvestlgatwe Services Unit (1SU) along with Correctional
Lieutenant [ BBl tronwood State Prison, and Correctional Sergeant Hll

Calipatria State Prison, 1SU, were tasked with conducting an inquiry into
several staff allegations made on Richard J. Donovan Correctional Facility
(RJDCF), Facility C.

Interview with Inmate —_

On Tuesday, January 22, 2019, at approximately 1012 hours, | conducted an
interview with inmate || EGNGzGNGNGEGEGE maote was asked to
describe in detail the allegations he made during an interview on December 5,
2018, regarding an inmate that was killed. Inmate was asked to clarify
this, and if in fact a homicide or a suicide had occurred. Inmate stated

“No, he committed suicide, a couple weeks earlier my next door neighbor
committed suicide. His name wash H
DOB , committed suicide on Facility C on 11/10/2018, refer to incident
#RJD-CEN S

inmate [JJwas asked if anything happened on the yard the morning before,
(January 21, 2019), in the chow hall, he stated, “Well yeah, this guy that
always seems to be into some stuff was thrown to the ground and roughed up
a little bit.”

inmate-did not know the inmates name or the officers involved, but stated
he was a big Hispanic officer that usually works on the yard. inmate
stated, “l don't know what he said to the officers, but then he laid on the

QJUUIIU, [=1]
(officers) just slammed him.” Inmate [Jfstated he saw this personally,
outside the chow hall. “'m not gonna say he was resisting but he’s a really

stupid guy. They hand cuffed him and took him in a wheelchair, and medical
came and they took him to the gym.” Inmate [jvas asked how the officers
took him to the ground, he stated, "He was grabbed off his walker and thrown
to the ground, but on the other hand this guy has been going through this stuff
with them (officers) for weeks, he’s on a hunger strike and all that, and he talks
shit and he’s miserable.” Inmate i is referring to incident number

RJD-CYD-19 , dated January 21, 2019, involving Inmate
CDCR#’ -

EMPLOYEE CONFIDENTIAL

HIGHLY CONFIDENTIAL — ATTORNEYS’ EYES ONLY — ARMSTRONG V. NEWSOM (C 94-2307 CW) DOJ00000050




Case 4:94-cv-02307-CW Document 2922-3 Filed 02/28/20 Page 36 of 321

EMPLOYEE CONFIDENTIAL
Page 2
RJD Staff Allegations

It is recommended upon completion of this incident (RJD-CYD-’IQ-)
package being submitted, it be reviewed by the Use of Force Commitiee
(IERC) and refereed to the Office of Internal Affairs for investigation.

Interview with Inmate !

On Tuesday, January 22, 2019, at approximately 0954 hours, | conducted an
interview with Inmate [N CDCR#‘ Inmate [ was asked to
describe in detail the allegations he made during an interview on December 5
2018, regarding excessive use of force utilized by Officer i} nmate
stated, “I believe that's when they were Kkicking on some dude in the chow hall,
| think it was around November 2018. It might have been earlier then that |
can't remember the exact date, could have been October. The inmate is not
here anymore, and | don’'t remember his name it was a black guy. Officer
stopped as soon as the cther officers came in. The inmate didn't do
anything; he was kicking him in the side, before he was handcuffed.” Inmate
was asked if he saw this happen personally, he siated, “Yeah it
happened in the chow hall | was in the chow hall. | don’t know what the deal
was he wasn't resisting or anything. He was in the food line, | don't know if he
said something but they tock him down.”

| asked Inmate [l what he meant by staff use other inmates to assault
inmates, “Yeah if an inmate has a sexual crime, or is a weirdo they will have
him beat up. The Officer’s ﬁand -toid inmate (Inmate
CDCR# , to beat someone up. | don’t know if | believe it
because he is in a walker. He told me the officers told him to do it.” Inmate
Il /25 asked if he had seen a change in the yard, he stated, “Not really,

they just tackled someone r day, that — guy
(incident log #RJD-CYD | Mtackled him because fie 1S on a
hunger sirike and asked to speak o the sergeant. So got mad and
threw his walker down, and _body slammed him.”

Another Inmate was resisting by the shower, but they beat him up while he was
on the ground, in 15 building. This was when | first got here in January or
February. Officers i and were there and a bunch of other
officers came in later.” Inmate didn’t know the inmates name.

It is recommended upon completion of this incident (RJD-CYD~19-)
package being submitted, it be reviewed by the IERC and refereed to OIA for
investigation

Interview with Inmate [ RN

On Tuesday, January 22, 2019, at approximately 1111 hours, | conducted an
interview with Inmate_ CDCR# inmate was
asked to describe in detail the allegations he made during an interview on
December 5, 2018, regarding an inmate getting pulled out of his wheelchair
and beat up. Inmate Hstated, “Yeah that was me, | got beat. |was
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going for me kosher meal and 1 was told | was going the wrong way, they told
me to go the other way. When | was going the other way a CO was
calling me a retard and stuff like that, | told him | was going to report him. He
said what did you say, | said | was going to report you, and before the words
could even come out of my mouth, | got pepper sprayed in the face and pulled
out of my chair, and beat up a little bit. It was Officer Il he said he was
going to write me up. So | just dropped it, | don’t want any problems. | just
want to do my program and go home.” Inmate -w'as asked if he filed a
602 inmate appeal, he stated he did and then he withdrew it. Inmate

stated he was put on tape regarding this. Inmate [ vas asked if there
were any inmate witnesses there during the incident he stated there all on the
602. He stated no staff witnesses. (Refer to 602 appeal #RJD-C-J i and
incident #RJD-CYD-18J -

Inmate [l was invoived in incident #RJD-CYD-15- I on

February 3, 2018, on March 2, 2018 Inmate filed a 602 complaint.
On March 19, 2018, a video recorded interview was conducted on Inmate

B i uring the interview Lieutenant I stated there was no

incident attached to the appeal and furthermore there was no_medical
evaluation of unusual occurrence iCDCR form 7219) completed on

During the interview Inmate stated he wished fo withdraw his
complaint. The witnesses completed written letters of accounts of things they
saw but failed to provide any identifying information for follow up interviews.

It is recommended a follow up interview is conducted with -to try and
retrieve the identities of the witnesses and this incident be refereed to OIA for
investigation.

Interview with Inmate!_

On Monday, February 4, 2019, at approximately 1037 hours, | conducted an
interview with Inmatew_ CDCR#i lnmate_was asked

to describe in detail the allegations he made during an interview on December
5

2018, regarding an inmate that was beaten up by correctional staff. Inmate

stated, “Oh, you're talking about Inmate h in the kitchen; it was
by CO 1 was right there. We were in the chow hall and-had some
in
here like that was like please | just want to eat | don’t have any other
pants. put him on the wall and he said something in his ear, then he
threw him on the ground and he slapped him, hit him in the head and kicked
him. The other two officers didn't get involved, | don't remember their names it
was one short one and one tall. After JJlillcot in tine to get his food he got
his tray and he ate his food, and | was telling him to calm down, but he got his
tray threw it down on the ground and ran out the chow hali and they tackied
him on the yard. This happened in like November or December, around dinner

time.” Inmate [Jifistated there was no alarm sounded during the incident
until -ran out on the vard. Inmate -was asked to describe
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and where he lives,-stated, “‘He’s §'10", black guy, lives in 15 building
maybe [l He got Inmate to write a 602 for him.” Inmate [JJwes
identified as__Inmate cocR# . incident number
RJD-CYD-18-

Inmate -claims he was falsely written up for indecent exEosure, and .

laced in administrative segregation (RVR# 00000000 Inmate
hc!aims this is false because the nurse that wrote him up stated he was

standing up during the incident. -claims he is bound t hair
and every time he tries to stand he falls. According to inmate DPP

Disabilities Summary, he is a full time wheelchair user.

It was recommended to Inmate -that he wait for the RVR process and
plead his case during the RVR hearing. If he dissatisfied with the ocutcome he
can then appeal the decision.

inmates [N and - - both recollect a similar incident inside

the chow hall, which was not documented by custody staff, if it did occur. It is
recommend incident log #RJD—CYD-y be reviewed again.

Interview with inmate [ G_

On Tuesday, Februali 5, 2019, at approximately 1106 hours, | conducted an

interview with Inmate CDCR# inmate |l vas asked to
describe in detail the ailegations he made during an interview in December of
2018. Wherein he stated his celimate was beat up in the chow hall. Inmate
B <i-icd, “Yeah ] he got beat up in the chow hall. He had his pants
cut at the bottom, the officers told him not to come in the chow hall like that
and he had been doing it for a couple days. Inmate yelled at-
saying he didn't have any other pants. Officer llJlllgrabbed him and threw
him up against the wall socked him up a few times threw him on the ground
and then socked him a few more times. This was in front of the whole chow
hall, everyone seen it. Then he (Officer- kicked him in the head and
then told him to get back in line. He got an RVR for that, because he got mad
after he was done eating and he threw his {ray at the wall, they came to get
him he ran out of chow hall, out to the middle of the field with like 5 or 6 officers
chasmg him. They threw him in the du‘r threw h|m on the cart and took him

he came back to the building Izke an hour Iater ” lnmate -was asked if
ever resisted or provoked the incident, he stated no.

inmate s describing incident number RJD~CYD~18—- Inmates

and both recollect a similar incident inside the chow
hall, which was not documented by custody staff, if it did occur. It is
recommend incident log #RJ D»CYDh be reviewed again.
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Interview with Inmate
On Thursday, February 7, 2019, at approximately 1027 hours, | conducted an
interview with Inmate CDCR# [l During the interview | advised
Inmate [l | was informed he might have been a victim of excessive or
unnecessary force, he stated, “Yes, | was hit by an officer. | approached the
chow hall, and the guy told me you aren’t supposed to be wearing pants like
that. The pants were like shorts on me. 1 cut the pants and made them like
shorts. He told me | had to go back to the building, but | refused to go back
because | didn’t have any other pants to wear. He told me if you don’t go back
to the building I'm going to hit you, and he hit me and | fell down, Another
inmate helped me get up. | was thinking about what happened while | was
eating and | got mad and threw the tray up against the wall and | ran out of the
chow hall. They chased me out of the chow hall and tackled me down to the
ground, and everything else they said was true.”

Inmate -was asked who helped him up off the ground he stated, he didn't
know his name and he’s no longer here. He stated anocther inmate withessed it
but e passed away, his name was [JJjjjirmate

DOB [ committed suicide on Facility C on 11/10/2018).
inmate was asked if the officer's exact words were, “If you don't leave
the chow hall I'm going to hit you.” He stated, “Yes, he told me that in my ear.”
Inmate as asked where and how did the officer hit him, and who was
the officer, he stated, "It was the same officer that tackled me outside, he
punched me in the side of my face. | ran oui iie chow hall because | was

scared, | was going to get hurt again.” Inmate stated he got written an
RVR for that, and he couldn’t come out to yard. Inmate [JJjjistated this was
the first time he had issues with staff. Inmate il was asked to describe the
officer he described him as Mexican guy with dark brown hair, medium sized.
Inmate [ was asked what happened after he was tackled on the yard, he
stated, “They took me to the gym and | saw the MTA, and they looked at my
injuries. They took me to the hospital and they were questioning me about
what happened and if | wanted to say anything about it, but | told them | didn't
want fo talk to anyone because | didn’t want to get hurt again.” Inmate
was asked if he filed an appeal he stated he didn’t because he didn’t want to
get hurt or anyone else to get hurt. Recommend further action in this case.

B s &

BE IR
On Tuesday, February 5, 2019, at approximatel 054 hours, | conducted an
interview with !nmate CDCR# Inmate —
asked fo describe in detail the allegations he made during an interview on
December 5, 2018, regarding staff allegations of misconduct. Inmate

stated, “If an officer has an issue with an inmate, they (officers) will
tell another inmate, Il drop your write up (RVR) if you go hit that inmate up
(assault). | have seen it happen a lot, | have done a couple things when a CO
told me to. The CO told me this guy is the reason your house got hit (cell
searched) and what | do, the next day hit him up (assault him). | find out it
didn'’t really happen, but they told me that because they have something
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personal against the inmate.” Inmate -was asked who the officers
usually use for this type of thing he stated, “The numbers, —
Inmate |GG stated ever been a victim of unnecessary o
excessive force. Inmate was asked who the officer was that told
him to assault another inmate he was unwilling to provide the name.

Inmate stated, "The officer sent inmates to beat up Inmate q
er feit

(Inmate _ RJD, C13 [ because the offic
disrespected. Officer sent him over there, this happened in November
or December. |saw it myself he was all bruised up and had a black eye.”

On December 4, 2018 | interviewed !nmate- he was reluctant to speak
with me, stating he had a court case, because inmates were sent to beat him
up by custody staff. Inmate -self~inc_riminated himself by stating he
had assaulted another inmate on behalf of custody staff.

A secondary interview was conducted i ate - on
February 7, 2019, during the interview Inmate as asked about his
RVR histoi and identifies the officer who told him to assault other inmates.

Inmate was asked about RVR'’s (log #00000000 battery on
a prisoner and 00000000 hH=ttery on a prisoner), regarding fights he
had been in, one in which he fought with an Inmate *on May
25, 2017, he stated he was told by Officer ] that Inmate told on

him stating he had drugs and cell phones in his cell. The officers came and
searched his cell and found nothing. The next day he went and fought Inmate

Inmate _was asked about his fight with lnmaF on
November 2, 2016. Inmate - stated, “Officer pointed him out to

us, he would show us the computer with the inmates information on it, we
would look at it through the window, and saw that he was a rapist.” Inmate
was asked if he ever suffered from any disciplinary action, he stated,
“No, the officer said he was going to make it go away. He (Officer [ even
told us lock, if | have any issues that | need taken care of, you won't get written
up.” Inmate was asked if he would receive any payment for doing
the assaults, he stated, “No not really, | would go and beat up the dude while

- mA T Aty - - & - L
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whatever we could come up on while the guy was being rolled up.” Inmate
went on to say, “There was ancther time he (Officer had a
personal issue with the guy so he told us to go hit him up but he wasn't a
rapist.” Inmate ﬂhad nothing further to add. It is reco nded
further investigation of Inmate be
interviewed.

Interview with Inmate NN

On Monday, February 11, 2019, at approximately 1159 hours, | conducted an
interview with Inmate CDCR#h regarding possible victimization
concerns. On December 4, 2018, | attempted to interview Inmate [Jjjjjout he

EMPLOYEE CONFIDENTIAL
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was reluctant to speak stating he was assaulted by inmates and had a court
case pending. During an interview with In he stated
an officer sent several inmates to beat up for disrespecting the officer,

The information gathered triggered a secondary interview attempt with Inmate

During the interview lnmate-stated, “I filed a 602, they put me on video
camera, but | haven’t got a response yet. On that day | got into a fight with two
inmates because | filed a 602. | was at the table eating and some guys came
at me and asked if | was going to drop the 802, | told them no I'm not, they said
it is going to be bad for you. That same day | was coming out from chow and
all the officers, like 5 officers were standing there, and there's a blind spot|jjjjjj
so the tower didn't see anything. | knew it was going to
happen, and they (inmates) assaulted me.” Inmate |Jjjjfjwas asked if he was
alleging the officers told the inmates to assault him, he stated, “Yes, Officer
told them to. That same day | had law library and he picked me up from
the law library and he asked me for my ID because he wanted to know my first
name, | didn't give it to him, | just walked away. Then things started to get
serious so | gave him my ID. He warmed me, | don't remember his exact
words.” te [l was asked how he knew the inmates were sent by
Office he stated, ‘Because the inmates that beat me up told me, they
told me in the chow hall. Then they beat me up, and then they asked me in the
dayroom if | was going to drop it (602), | told them yeah.”

Inmate- was asked to identify the inmates that assaulted him, he stated,
“One of the inmates is still here, back when they beat me up he lived in 13
block [JJ He's not there anymore though, he got into a fight and he went to
the hole (administrative segregation unit), the other guy is still here he’s a yard
crew worker.” 1 was unable to identify either inmate that assaulted Inmate

Inmate was asked the reason for submitting the inmate appeal, he
stated, “| was assaulted on August 19" by Officer while Officer
watched. | was assaulted because | wanted a bed move; | could no longer
stay in the cell. They didn’t want to give it to me.” Inmate stated the
same day he conducted the video recorded interview (October 018) is the

-stated the injuries depicted in the \ndeo recorded 1nterwew was from the
assauit.

On Tuesday, February 12, 2019, | reviewed inmate appeal RJD~C~18.
allegation of excessive or unnecessary force submitied by Inmate

During the videotaped interview, Inmate [jfhad visual injuries to the bridge
of his nose, these injuries were never addressed on camera nor was | able to
locate a 7219 medical evaluation completed for the purpose of the videotaped
interview. In review of the CDCR 3014 page 2, the supervisor states, “A review
of the CDCR 7219 revealed that Inmat had pre-existing injuries during

EMPLOYEE CONFIDENTIAL
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the interview.” How does the interviewer know these injuries are pre-existing, if
they were never addressed on camera? Recommend further follow-up needed.

Conclusion and recommendations:

Throughout this investigation, a common trend has been identified of areas
and types of inmates that are being utilized and or subject to harassment or
unnecessary or excessive uses of force. It has been determined that the gym,
rotundas, chow hall and blind spots | IEEGTGTNINININININGEIIL- - -
regularly used for either inmate on inmate assaults or staff on inmates
excessive force. Majority of these allegations are being made by the
Enhanced Outpatient inmate population or wheeichair designated inmates.
Allegations received indicate the existence of a custody gang called
_Which wears

custody staff utilize either the Security Threat
Group, to carry out assaults on other inmates for refaliation purposes. This
information has not yet been proven, but has been brought up in numerous
interviews by different inmates, and even by an inmate who claims to have
assaulted inmates on behalf of custody staff. The inmate population appears
to be in fear of retaliation when submitting inmate appeals, stating correctional
officers have access to the appeal boxes and throw away appeals and retaliate
against the submitter. There is also a common trend of inmates either
withdrawing appeals or refusing to participate in the videotaped interview
process due to fear or being retaliated against.

The following are recommendation for improvement of Facility C:

Check key access to Appeal boxes.

Rekey/restrict access to gymnasium

Job change Facility C management positions
Place cameras inside buildings and rotundas
Rehouse or transfer Security Threat Group inmates

Should you have any questions or require additional information | may be

contacted via electronic_mail at ||| G o by institutional

~ telephone at extensionlll}

Correctional Sergeant
Investigative Services Unit
California Institution for Men

EMPLOYEE CONFIDENTIAL
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officer I anc told him this is fike the 3 or 4™ time | seen this dude
(Qfﬁcer-) jump on someone, when are you guys going to do something
about this, he's a liability, there's only a matter of time before something bad
happens, and something bad did happen. An inmate tock an officers spray
and baton, Officerﬂ sai t can we ere’s nothing we can do. |
think [l said something to and now is after me. So ! waited for
my 118 nothing came, initially | was going to file my appeal, but | see how
many inmates were getling there asses beat by cops and if not by cops then
other inmates mostly the {SNY. Becurity Threat Group ). Fast forward
a little bit to the Armstrong Audit | had just sent a letter to Michae! Bean and
Rosen Bean. The Armstrong office asked me if | wanited {o file 2 complaint |
told them no | didn't want to. About & month later | was asked fo be
interviewed by I1SU, they take me in a room, and this guy identified himself as
the 18U lieutenant, 2 heavy set Hispanic guy. He was wearing plain clothing,
late 40's. The guy told me | got a complaint, a staff complaint this came from
the audit. He asked me for my CDC number | told him, and he said well this is
a “J" number 5o it must not be you. He said did you tell anvone vou wanted to
file a compizint; | said no | didn' tell anvone that, he asked well do you want to
filte a complaint, | said ne. That was that”

§nmat&- weni on to state, "About a month later there’s an incident on
the yard, on October 14, 2018 _initially it had nothing to do with me or my
cellmate COOD . that morning | see my cellie getting
ready 10 go to yard, and he puts in his tooth, which is usually sign that he's not
coming back, so | ask him what's up? On the way cullo vard he runs i down
to me, (incident on Gclober 14, 2018, RIG-CYD-18 , if's with the guy
that lives next door to us, [l they call him CDCR#
B o ook | know a couple of these guys from the vard, let me talk fo
them see if | can talk this down. We walk gver by the weight pile, and | see the
inmates stacked up over in front of the sweat lodge. | tell my cellmate and
to stay back, the idea is to talk this down not up. | asked one of the

indian dudes, what's it going to take fo put this to bed? We start to ta
big mouth kid with the pot leaf on his face;
wouldn shut up. | el the othe

COOR# .
T cocr: IR et isn't
helping bro. 1 ask him what's it going to take to put this to bed, he says one for
one {One for one removal from the yard), Me tells e what happenad a couple

|

days ago, which | wasn't aware of. | tell him ook man 'm not going
to do that, and | don’t leave here with my integrity, if run vou down some
bullshit. He says ok iet me go talk to these guys. Whe { ome
black guy comes up, and the black guy talks to the older L and
he's trying to do the same thing | was trying to do, the black guy was part of

one of the PC gangs. He's taking to him and it doesn't ook like #'s going
anywhere, | t;eitw fook it doesn't look ke this is going anywhere

they want you gone. said what did the black guy say, {they call him
B ncbie to identify), there is something going on between h and

tells me owes him like $1,500 bucks,
is not telling everyone that. like 'l go round up my people right

OYEE CONPI
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now, he's talking about backing up- I'm like | didn't know and
the black guy are invojved with each other. | assume iz not in their

ang.” mma&a_ was asked what the name of this gang was he stated,
k. “I tell the black guy, do me a fa‘ﬂyears down the road |
can't have a bunch of people talking about, was running with the
blacks down in RJD, so can you old off on the jumping in. | still think | can talk
to this gu So just keep your people out of £ So | walk back over

there, and‘z’ssiamﬁin ta my right, and _(- is standing
to my left, an and Hr talking anc pulis the thing out of
his pants {Knife), and says get him, and | logk back and there’s a whole shit
load of people behind us, they had surrounded us, but the kid with the pot leaf
on his face | is right in front of me.  So whatever happens, happens
s0 | move off the weight pile and | lodk up and | see my cellie running and
peopie chasing him and | know me and my celiie don't have knives, so | tell
B o help my celie, and | continue o defend myself. intially | ired o
slide away, but | see my sweatshirt is full of blood, so | take & off but my lank
top was full of blood also, so I'm fke this isn' going to work. | notice | cant
really see out of my right eye, because | had got stabbed in the eye. | look and
notice everyone is down except me and so | go down and | get culled
up. | get taken to the TTA (Treatment and Triage Area), and I'm on the last
gurney and they bring in and he says, you good? I'm like veah I'll be
alright; he says you know it's just a business deal, After | come back from the
hospital, | went to committes, and is in B block and he calls down to
me and | can't hear what he’s saving, I'm in the cages and one of the other
dudss in the cages is like he sald, there's more to this then what mests the eye
it run it all down to you later. Well iater when I'm on the yard In the cages
some other Mexican dude that | don't even know says said he got a
phone out of this. Someone on this yard whoe wands o remain anonymous for
now because he expects to get out in March, apparently saw [JjiOfficer
give a phong, So this 8 how it all comes together this is a
month after the interdew with 18U, When | filed a complaint she {Ammstrong
Auditor) specifically asked for the interview to not be done by 15U staff. Just
last week | got pulled up by 18U and asked o be interviewed | told them no |
don't trust you guys, this is the exact same situation | was put in before.”

Inmate was asked i [l rimser toid him he got a phone from
Officer he stated, "No, the inmate that saw it is on this vard with me
now.” Inmale was asked how the culture is here at RJD, he stated,
“The culture here is bad. But you have to remember Covellc (Warden P.
Covello) has taken some prefty positive steps ai this prison, but what happens
is one bad cop influences the other goond cops.”

Inmate -was asked what he {old the black inmate during the incident, ha
stated, "l told him to stay out of i, because | didn't want some whites
approaching me on the vard, remember just because I'm not part of a gang
doesn't mean, | don’t have to follow rules as means of survival” Inmate
ﬁwas asked if he has had issues with Officer[JJJJj e steted. “Actually

DOJ00000420




Case 4:94-cv-02307-CW . Document 2922-3 Filed 02/28/20 Page 47 of 321

WEE CONFIDERTIAL
Page 4
RJD Staff Allegations

no, besides this no, it's not like him and | are beefing, he's a bad apple. | have
watched from my celi Officer [Jwas on this kids back, some black kid, by
the podium in €12 in the morning hows, the dude was already on the floor in
hand cuffs when another officer came in and kicked this dude in the face twice.
H my phone would have been able to record for longer than 30 seconds D would
have recorded it." Inmate was asked to identify the officer that kicked
the inmate he stated, "Officer [jbis heavy set dude.”

Inmate was askad f he had proof or facts to prove the allegation that
Officer was involved in him being stabbed, he siated, "No, not that | can
think of off the top of my head. | watched an officer flip an old black man out of
his wheel chair for getling mouthy, thal guy was no threat 1 anyone.” Inmate

weas asked i he remembered the tmes o dates that his occcurred; he
stated no, it was after the incident. There was another incident where
Bl sashed this guy's head into the podium the guy was ke 70 years old.
Fortunately there was a black sergeant that responded and it was a rockie
tower ¢op and I'm assuming he told the sergeant what happened. 5o what
happen was|jjoot some time off and he got hit with a bunch of pay.”

Inmate -was asked if he had anything further to add. He stated, *| have
witnessed a whole bunch of staff misconduct, but no | don't fesl like this is
going to go anywhere.” The interview was concluded at this time.

inmate -s recollection of the incident coincides with all documentation
presented within the incident package. Located in Inmate %

idential file, is a confidential memorandum authored by 1SU Officer
within the document there are interviews conducted with W
The interviews conveyad that Inmate

cocr# I o» Friday, October 12, 2018,
$50 for a drug debt. Inmate —mam he

but he heard i wes a white inmate. Inmates
v as stabbing [ inmate
showed displeasure with s actions, singce he as overall
authority of the Native American population he confronted about &,

stated he didn't care and chai?aﬁgﬁezi”@ one on one fight, to
g 10 go to the vard. Inmate

resolve the | agreed and tol
so he wouldn't get jumped,

and went to the yard with
and that is when the rict ensued,

inmate-went out to the yard on October 142018, on his own doing, in

an attempt to quail a situation or stop Inmat from being jumped by
the Native Amercans, furthermore Inmate provides no facls or

evidence to substantiate his allegation of Officer Jjbeing invoived in this
incident. | recommend no further action necessary in this allegation.

CONFIDERTIAL
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interview with Inmate IEG_G_GG_—_

On Friday, January 18,2019, at approximately 1100 hours, | conducted an
interview with Inmate QDGR#i inmate I was asked
to describe in detall the allegations he made during an interview on December
4,2018. tnmate [ stated, “What | told her is all | had to add, | can't add
anything else or take away anvthing. | told her Officer [l vwas a very
good officer, and foicer“ is a little aggressive at imes. | saw him do
somethings he probably shouldn't be doing to an inmate. | remember | just
arrived, Christmas of 2016, he said some derogatory comments o me. | really
dor’t want to talk anymore, it doesn't really matter where you guys are from,
and this prison has a specific culture of retaliation. But it lonks like it is gelling
better because you guys are swapping the officers oul and dol ;
investigation.” Inmate went on to state, "l observed Qf cerw
beat a guy in the hallway in 12 building, he was a northerner they kicked him in
the face and then put him back in his cell, and medical wouldn't take him o
medical he was fucked up.” inmats was asked f he knew the inmates
name or if he could describe him, he described him as, "He was a northerner, |
know he filed papsr work on it, he was 5"5 short guy, brown skin, ex northern
rider, Mexican guy he was in C12, [l and this happened in 2018 (unable to
identify). He said something to the officer they got into it, and they let thelJJ}
STG i) beat him up and then they (officers) beat him up.” Ihmale
was asked what happened between himself and Officer he
, stated, "I was going to the law library and | made it outside, an threw
{ something in the trash and | missed and [Jwes tike a motherfucker pick that
shit up. | said you don't have {o talkk to me like that he said motherfucker this
is my building. | started walking away through the halbway and he's trailing me
talking shit. We gt out to the front of the building and he's tell me to come on
challenging me to a fight, | step back and | called other inmates, and | say vou
guys see this he's challenging me fo a fight. The tower cop was watching,
some Filipino officer. Then | went 1o the program office but that didn't work, |
told several officers what was going on. | did tell one black officer | cant
remember his o ma o an aiiﬁa regarding all this (802 Inmale Appes! #

RJD-C- ’17 ” inmate went on to state, “Officer [Jjthat dude o
brutal | seen him beat an inmate with a flash light right by the program office_a
big white dude, he beat him bad. He works in a building now.” Inmate -
could not remember a time or date of this incident.

Inmate did file a 602 Inmate Appeal ragarding the allegations against
Officer in reviewing this appeal, several inmatle witness as well
as offi " . ) . o

Wicer ere all interviewed during the appeal inguiry.
Officer sl e didn't see ani confrontation between inm

aryd Officer Officer siated he saw Dﬁrcer

counseling inmate and Inmate was talkin k to Officer
causing a confrontation between the two  Officers told {}ﬁ’;mr
about this confrontation. ?nmatas CDCR#

both stated they saw the contron atsm between Qfﬁcer
and Inmate and they stated Officer -was the aggressor looking as
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if he wanted to fight Inmate - This inmate appeal was iheraiﬁiiy

investigated, there is not enough evidence to substantiate Inmate s
allegation, and therefore | recommended no further action necessary.

interview with inmate

On Friday, January 18, 2018, at approximately 1255 hours, | conducted an
interview with Inmate ||| | NG cocr+ IR mmate_ras
asked to describe in detall the sllegations he made during an interview on

December 4, 2018, regarding an inmate getting his teeth knocksd out by staff.
inmate [N stztec, 1 cant really remember that, | cant really
remember details. | don’t even remember how long ago # was”  inmate
was asked if he could remember the inmate’s name, he stated,
just remember he went by a name he was mixed black and white, he
lived in C14, and he’s gone now. | don't remember the staff involved.” Inmate

was asked if he could remember any recent events on the yard, he
—was askad what led {o this incident, he

stated, "No.” Inmate
stated, “] think the inmate spit on the officer.” Inmale stated he dig
not have a good angle to see the incident. had nothing more io
add the inferview was concluded. Ihmate s accounts of the said
incidents are either hearsay or in a manner which show lack of evidence to
substantiate his claims. It is recommended no further action necessary.

interview with Inmate
On Tuesday, January 22, 2018, at approximatsly 1038 hours, | conducted an
interview with %ﬂmaie” COCR# inmate [Jlvas asked to
describe in detadl the alegations he made during an interview on
December §, 2018, regarding his cousin.  Inmale was asked who his
cousin was and what happened with him, he stated, "His name is

we used to lve together, is CDC# s a [rumber (.
COCR# . Sc what happen, he got knocked out by another inmate, so
while he was incoherent, he wasn't listening to orders from the officers, so they
(officers) slammed him. He [ dicn't know what was going on so he
was fighting back.” inmate JJJllvas asked where this took place at he
stated, “In the dayroom of 14 block. He was trying to get up, and the police
were telling him to get down but he kept trying to get up, | thought # was a little
excessive. But that's when | jumped; they ook us both io the hole. | got
written up for assault on a peace officer first, but they {custody) dropped #
down to behavior which could lead o viclencs.” iﬁmaieh stated, “! believe
it was a little excessive, byl mavbe thal's begause he is my cousin, He got
found guilty of battery on a peace officer and did a SHU term. | don't know if
he got written up for the fight.” Inmate wag asked who his cousin was
fighting with he stated an Inmate frunate was asked who was

present during the incident he stated, "Sergeant [N vzs there [N
was ther&* was there.” Inmate ﬁwas‘ asked if he could see who
was using force, he stated he could not because he was in the comer.
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Job change Facility C management positions
Place cameras inside buildings and rotundas
Rehouse or transfer Security Threat Group inmates

Should you have any questions or require additional information 1 may be

contacted via electronigmail at [ NG o o institutional
telephone at extensicnrHa

Correctional Sergeant
Investigative Services Unit
California Institution for Men
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L, _ declare:

1. I have personal knowledge of the matters set forth herein, and if called as a
witness, I could and would competently so testify.

2. My California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation (“CDCR”)
number is [ Il 1 am currently housed at Richard J. Donovan Correctional Facility
(“RID”) on Facility A in Building 1. T am 47 years old.

3. I most recently transferred to RJD on October 27, 2019. I had previously
experienced safety concerns with RJD staff, so I asked for a Mental Health Crisis Bed
(“MHCB”) placement after I arrived. I was sent to a MHCB at Chino that same day, and
returned to RJD on November 4, 2019. I was initially placed in a MHCB, where I stayed
for about two weeks. I was then moved to the Administrative Segregation Unit (“ASU”),
Building B6, because of my safety concerns. I was discharged from the ASU on around
December 6, 2019 but was briefly sent back to the ASU on around December 8 for several
days before I was released again. Since then, I have been housed in Building Al.

4. I am an Armstrong class member. I am designated as DNH, which means
that I am hard of hearing and use hearing aids. Until two days ago, I was also designated
as DPW, which means that I use a wheelchair fulltime. On January 27, 2019, my
wheelchair and DPW code were taken away, and I no longer have a mobility DPP code.
Although I am not paralyzed and am able to stand and take several steps, I do have a
mobility disability that makes it very difficult for me to walk. I have chronic back
problems due to two ruptured discs and severe weakness in my left leg from arthritis, as
well as neuropathy of my feet. I also experience urinary incontinence related to my
disability and have been diagnosed with a seizure disorder.

5. I am a Coleman class member at the EOP level of care. I suffer from
depression, anxiety, and paranoid thinking, and I have been diagnosed with depressive

disorder and schizophrenia in the past, for which I have been prescribed psychotropic
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medications. [ had a traumatic childhood, and have struggled at times with suicidal
thoughts while in prison. I also experience frequent auditory hallucinations.

6. I was a victim of staff misconduct at RID. On November 27, 2019, while I
was housed in cell -of the ASU in Building B6, Officer -came to my cell door at
around 9:00 am to deliver my weekly incontinence supplies, including diapers, wipes,
chucks, a condom catheter, and garbage bags. Ofﬁcer-had me face away from the
cell door with my hands behind my back so that he could handcuff me before opening the
door. He reached through the food port and placed the handcuffs on my wrists, so that I
was handcuffed behind my back while seated on my wheelchair. Ofﬁcer-opened the
cell door and dropped the incontinence supplies on my lap. He then closed the door,
leaving me handcuffed. I called out that I was still handcuffed, and Officer [}
responded that he would be “right back.” But he did not return, and 1 was left handcuffed
in my cell for more than two full days, until midday November 29, 2019.

7. Whenever I heard officers and other staff passing by my cell door, I called
out that I was handcuffed and asked to be released, but nobody did anything. In the ASU,
staff pass the cell doors all the time—officers conduct welfare checks every 30 minutes,
medications are passed out four times day, meals are passed out twice a day, staff come by
daily to offer showers and yard, and staff pass by for individual ducats all the time—and I
would call out every time I heard someone near my cell door, but nobody helped me.

8. Most people walked by without acknowledging me at all, but several people
responded, “I don’t want to get involved.” During one of the meal passes while I was
handcuffed, I called out to Officer -help, but he simply responded, “don’t file
PREA reports.” Officer -also responded to me at one point by telling me not to file
PREA reports. Based on these comments, I believe that I was intentionally left handcuffed
in my cell for days in retaliation for having filed PREA reports against RJD staff members.

9. After I had been left in handcuffs for about an hour, I began trying to
maneuver my body to move my arms from behind my back to the front. To do so, I had to

get out of my wheelchair and onto the cell floor. It took a long time, but I was eventually
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able to move my arms under my buttocks and my legs so that my cuffed arms were no
longer behind my back, and then crawled back up onto my wheelchair.

10.  While my hands were no longer trapped behind my back, I was still stuck in
the handcuffs and nobody was responding to my calls for help. I began having panic
attacks when I realized that nobody was coming back to unlock the handcuffs. Eventually,
I had to go to the bathroom, and was forced to soil myself and sit in a filthy diaper. It took
me several hours to be able to remove my clothing while handcuffed and clean myself and
remove the diaper, but I was not able to put on a new diaper, and so I was forced to urinate
and defecate in my clothing again during this more than two-day ordeal.

11. By around midday on November 29, 2019, it was apparent to me that the
only way I would be released was if I could get the attention of a Lieutenant by covering
my cell window with paper, which is against the rules. I was able to reach some papers in
my cell and wrote on them that I had been left handcuffed for more than 48 hours. In the
early afternoon, I taped the papers to the cell window, with the words pointing outwards.
Soon afterward, I saw that there were multiple officers outside the door, so I removed the
papers from the window. I saw Sergeant -utside my cell and explained to him
that I had been handcuffed since the morning of November 27, 2019. He asked to see and
I showed him the handcuffs. Sergeant -leﬁ and brought Lieutenant -to
my cell. T was then escorted to a holding cell in the ASU dayroom, still in the handcuffs.

12.  Lieutenant -told me that they needed to do a video interview with me,
but I refused unless someone from Internal Affairs was present because I was concerned
that if I there was nobody present from outside RJD, they might try to hide what happened.
Lieutenant -left and returned about 30 minutes later. He told me that the Warden
had told him that the Watch Commander would interview me. I again asked to be
interviewed with someone from Internal Affairs present, but eventually agreed to be
interviewed by the Watch Commander. Throughout this time, I remained handcuffed. At

my request, Lieutenant took a photograph of the handcuffs before removing them,
q p
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as I wanted to make sure that it was documented that these were Officer -’s handcuffs
that should have been returned at the end of his shift on November 27, 2019.

13.  Later that day, I was briefly interviewed by the Watch Commander, who told
me that an ISU supervisor would be investigating and would interview me about what had
happened to me. The Watch Commander told me that Lieutenant - had reported to
him that at the end of the Second Watch shift on November 27, 2019, RID staff realized
the handcuffs were missing and they conducted search for them of all the cells in the ASU.
That did not happen. Not only were cell searches not conducted, but everyone who passed
by my cell knew that I was handcuffed since I was calling out to them and asking for help.
The Watch Commander told me that he had checked the video footage and confirmed that
the ASU cells had not been searched, and that when he confronted Lieutenant -with
this information, Lieutenant -admitted that he had not checked himself, and that he
had relied on Sergeant -’s report to him about cell searches on November 27,
2019. The Watch Commander assured me that the staff responsible would be held
accountable.

14. It has been two months, however, and I still have not heard anything more
about the investigation into this incident, and nobody from ISU has interviewed me to
learn what happened. I filed a 602 about the staff misconduct on November 29, 2019, and
on January 27, 2020, I finally received a response, which simply stated that there was a
pending ISU investigation.

15. When left the ASU, the Warden assured me that I would not be retaliated
against for reporting what had happened to me. While I believe he was being sincere, I am
afraid for my safety at RJID. I am afraid out on the yard, and I try to avoid going places
where I am not visible to a large number of people, as I fear I will either be attacked by
custody staff or by another incarcerated person at the direction of the officers in retaliation
for having reported staff misconduct. I am afraid walking to the chow hall and of waiting
in the pill call line, because I might be assaulted. The experience has exacerbated my

mental health symptoms, including my anxiety and paranoia.
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16.  Based on my observations, RJD staff target people with mental illness and
disabilities with staff misconduct. It appears that the officers see people with mental
illness and disabilities as easy targets, and recognize that they will not get in trouble or be
held accountable for their actions.

17.  Thave been in CDCR prisons for almost 22 years of my life. I’ve been
housed in a number of different CDCR prisons, including Salinas Valley, CSP-
Sacramento, High Desert, and Kern Valley. The staff misconduct at RJD is the worst that
I have seen. This is the most dangerous prison that I have ever been housed in.

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America
that the foregoing is true and correct, and that this declaration is executed at San Diego,

California this 24 day of January, 2020.
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DECLARATION OF -

I,- declare:

1. I have personal knowledge of the matters set forth herein, and if called as a
witness, I could and would competently so testify.

2. My California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation (“CDCR”)
number is [ NGB0 1am currently housed at Richard J. Donovan Correctional Facility
(“RJD”) on Facility B in Building 8. I am 56 years old.

3. I have been housed at RJD several times over the past few years. I was at
RJD from December 2016 until July 30, 2019, when I was transferred to California State
Prison, Lancaster (“LAC”). I transferred back to RJD on September 26, 2019, and I have
been housed at RJD ever since. Before I transferred to LAC, I was housed in Building 3
on Facility A. Since returning to RJD, I have been housed in Building 8 on Facility B.

4, I am an Armstrong class member. I am classified as DPM, which means that
my mobility disability makes it hard for me to use stairs. Due to my chronic lower back
and knee problems, I use a four-wheeled seated walker and a cane to get around. As
accommodations for my disability, I am also housed on the ground floor in a lower bunk,
and use knee braces, a wrist brace, and orthotic shoes. I also have a mobility vest because
it is hard for me to get down on the ground during alarms because of my disability.

5. I am a Coleman class member at the CCCMS level of care. I have been
diagnosed with anxiety and depression, and am prescribed Visaril for my anxiety.

6. I was a victim of staff misconduct at RJD. On July 14, 2019, at around 8:30
am, my name was announced over the A Yard PA calling for me to report to the Facility A
Program Office. At the time, I was wearing shorts and a t-shirt. As I was walking out of
my housing unit, one of the Building A3 floor officers, Ofﬁcer- told me to put on
my blues. Iresponded that I did not need to put them on since I was just going to a 602
hearing at the Program Office, and Officer -told me that he was going to tell the
Sergeant that I refused to go. I was frustrated and responded, “Tell him whatever you

want, this is how broads act.” Officer -became very upset and asked me, “Are you
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calling me a bitch?” I denied this and tried to deescalate the situation by walking away,
but Officer -and Officer -followed me very closely, invading my persohal
space. I asked Ofﬁcer- to give me a few feet of space because he was acting so
aggressively towards me. Instead, Officer -yelled, “You put a hit on me!” 1
understood him to be accusing me of calling him out for attack by other incarcerated
people, but I was confused about the accusation and why he thought I had anything against
him. I told Officer -that I did not know what he was talking about, and denied
putting a hit on him. Officer -responded by getting even closer to me, and I again
asked him to give me a few feet.

7. Officer -walked away from me and paced back and forth by the
podium. He picked up the phone and briefly talked with someone. A few minutes later,
Officer -approached me again and told me he wanted to talk with me outside. I
asked- CDCR number- to come outside with me and Officer -
to listen to our conversation. As Officer -escorted me towards to the door,-
-followed. Officer -stopped him at the housing unit door and told him that he
could not come outside. I heard Officer -say to-that I had called
Ofﬁcer “bitch” and that he was going to fight me. While Officer -was
talking with _ I continued walking out the door and went to the Facility A
Program Office. At the Program Office, I was interviewed by Sergeant-and
Lieutenant -bout a 602 staff complaint I had previously filed.

8. At around 11:20 am that same day, after yard recall, I returned to Building
A3. As soon as entered, another incarcerated person told me he saw Officers -and
-go into my cell. I looked into my cell, and saw that it had been trashed and was in
complete disarray. My property was thrown all over the floor, including my legal mail,
headphones, and CD player. At the time, I had been using an extra mattress as an
accommodation for my mobility disability. One of my mattresses had been thrown off my

bunk and was on the cell floor, and the other was missing.
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9. Officers -and -were standing on dayroom floor near the podium.
I walked over to them and asked them to give me their badge numbers and cell search
receipt, but they refused. I then asked to speak with a Sergeant, but they refused again. 1
was frustrated and wanted to speak with a Sergeant about how I believed that Officers
-and -had trashed my cell in retaliation for the argument with Ofﬁcer-
that morning. I walked over to the rotunda door in front of the sally port gate and sat down
on my walker seat facing the podium to wait for a Sergeant. Officer -ordered me to
return to my cell and “lock up,” but I told him that I would not move until I spoke with a
Sergeant. I asked, “If you guys haven’t done anything wrong, why won’t you let me speak
to a Sergeant?” Ofﬁcer-eplied, “You gonna go snitch on me?”

10. At that point, the sally port gate opened to allow other incarcerated people to
enter building A3, so I stood up to get out of the doorway, using my walker for support.
After the sally port was cleared, Officers -and -walked over to me and asked
me to enter the sally port rotunda with them, out of view of the dayroom. I refused
because I was afraid that they would beat me up in the rotunda where I could not be seen
by the people in the dayroom. When I refused, Officer -suddenly grabbed my right
arm hard and told me to turn around to be handcuffed behind my back. I told Officer
-hat I have a special cuffing chrono and am not supposed to be handcuffed from
behind because of my disability. I did not pull away from Officer -or resist him in
any way. [ worry about falling because I have difficulty balancing due to my disability, so
I am very careful not to pull away from officers.

11.  When I told Officer -about my special cuffing chrono, he tightened his
grip on my right arm and suddenly body-slammed me onto the ground. It happened so
fast. I was in the air and could see my feet going over my head, and then hit the ground
hard, landing on the back of my neck and upper back. The back of my head then hit the
concrete floor, and I was knocked unconscious for several seconds.

12.  When I came to, I was lying on my back on the housing unit floor, and

Ofﬁcer-s knee was on my throat with so much force that I could not breathe.
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Ofﬁcer-still had a tight grip on my right arm, holding it down and twisting it
painfully. I tried to use my left arm to push his knee off my throat so I could breathe. As
soon as [ was able to get Ofﬁcer-s knee off my throat and take a breath, he began
kneeing me repeatedly in the face, busting open my lip. I thought Ofﬁcer-was
going to kill me on the dayroom floor in front of all the incarcerated people and officers in
the housing unit.

13. Ofﬁcer-stopped kneeing me in the face and handcuffed my arms in
the front so tightly that I lost circulation in both arms. After I was handcuffed, another
officer—I could not tell who—flipped me over with a lot of force, smashing the right side
of my face into the concrete floor. I lay on the ground for several minutes. I was feeling
woozy, had lost feeling in my fingers and hands, and felt a burning pain from my head to
my hands and my feet. The pain was so bad that I could not move. At some point, I saw
that Sergeant -was nearby, and I asked him to loosen the handcuffs. Sergeant|JjJjj
-walked by and replied, “Fuck him, leave him like that.”

14.  Medical staff arrived soon after that, put a collar on my neck, and took me by
gurney to the Triage and Treatment Area (“TTA”), where I had to wait more than four
hours before I was taken to the hospital. At the TTA, they had to cut the handcuffs off my
wrists with a bolt cutter because of how tightly Officer -had put them on me. While
I was waiting, there were about ten custody officers there who were ridiculing me, telling
me that I had deserved what happened to me. Officer -aid to me, “that’s what
happens when you mess with us.” While I was waiting, officers would periodically come
into the room, taunting me, pulling on my legs, and twisting me onto my side without
holding my neck in place. Registered Nurse (“RN”) Bradley was also mocking me, asking
me, “what are you, crippled now?” At one point, Officer -was begging RN
Bradley to give me a shot, which was scary since I had no idea what he was trying to inject
me with. She told him that she could not without my permission. I was so frightened that
I kept my eyes closed much of those hours in the TTA, as I was scared about what the

officers would do to me next. At one point, I lost control of my bladder and urinated on
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myself. I felt humiliated and could not believe that none of the medical staff told the
officers to stop mistreating me, and that RN Bradley even joined in taunting me. I felt as if
I was not even seen as a human being by any of the custody or medical staff who were
present, and that I was being treated as someone without any dignity or value.

15.  When the ambulance finally arrived to take me to the hospital, the driver
grabbed my neck and twisted it, telling me, “you ain’t crippled, you’re faking it. We hear
all the time about how you guys do this to try to get money.” I was taken to Sharp
Memorial Hospital, where I told the hospital staff about how the officers had taken me to
the ground and hurt me. Doctors at the hospital diagnosed me with multiple contusions of
the head, neck and back. When I was discharged several hours later, the transportation
officers arrived without an accessible van. I was released from the hospital in a wheelchair
because of my injuries, but the transport officers made me walk up the steps into the van
with my walker, which was very difficult and painful. I could not climb into the van, so
two transport officers and a nurse carried me into the van. When we arrived back at the
TTA, one of the transport officers told RN Bradley that I needed a wheelchair, but she
responded, “Fuck him, make him walk.” I was then forced back into the van without a
wheelchair, and taken to the Administrative Segregation Unit (“ASU”).

16.  I'was given a Rules Violation Report (“RVR™) for Battery on a Peace Officer
based on this July 14, 2019 incident. On July 17, 2019, Officer -visited me in the
ASU and told me that he was my Investigative Employee for the RVR. I asked Officer
-to interview the incarcerated people in building A3 who had witnessed the assault,
but he said that this could not be done unless I identified each witness by name or CDCR
number, which was impossible for me to do—the attack on me had happened so quickly
and had been so severe that I could not say which of the incarcerated people in my
building had seen what happened. I was attacked in the dayroom right after a number of
people had entered building A3, and I could hear people yelling from their cells during the
attack, so there is no doubt that there were many witnesses who could easily have been

identified. Instead, Officer -refused to do anything to find out who had seen what
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happened. When I realized that Officer -was not going to help, I ended the interview
and told him I was going on a hunger strike. I stayed on the hunger strike for 32 days.

17. 1 filed a 602 staff complaint against Officer -on July 21, 2019, which
was rejected by RID because I had included too many issues. On July 30, 2019, while the
RVR was still pending, I was transferred to LAC, where I remained until September 26,
2019, when I returned to RID. On August 12, 2019, I filed a narrower 602, which was
processed as a staff complaint. After filing the 602, I was interviewed at LAC on video.
In early October 2019, shortly after I transferred back to RJD, I was interviewed by an ISU
Officer whose name I do not recall. The interview lasted only about five minutes and took
place in a non-confidential location, on the yard outside the Facility B Program Office.
The ISU Officer mostly asked questions about my missing property, and did not seem
interested in the assault by Officer - I still have not gotten any response to the 602.

18.  The hearing on my RVR was postponed for several months because RID
filed battery charges against me with the District Attorney, who decided to drop the
charges. On October 19, 2019, I was found guilty of the RVR based on the July 14, 2019
incident, and was punished with a loss of 150 days of credit. OfficefJJJJJJi Officer
- and Ofﬁcer-all filed statements falsely accusing me of attacking Officer
- which they claimed justified the force used against me. None of the incarcerated
people who witnessed what actually happened were called to testify.

19.  On November 23, 2019, I filed a 602 appealing the RVR, which was denied
on January 6, 2020, because they claimed my due process right to call witnesses was not
violated because I had not requested any witnesses. This is not true. Again, my
Investigative Employee, Ofﬁcer- refused to do anything to identify any of the
incarcerated people who witnessed the assault.

20. I am still feeling the physical effects of the assault by Ofﬁcer-and the
other officers today. The chronic nerve pain I suffer due to my mobility disability has
worsened, and I experience more severe pain in my legs, arms, back, and neck. I am also

more hesitant to ask for help from medical staff because of how I was treated at the TTA
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after the assault, and I have difficulty trusting them because I do not know whether they
are willing to honestly assess my medical needs.

21.  From what I have observed, custody staff at RJD engage in misconduct
against people with physical disabilities and mental health issues more frequently than
against other incarcerated people. For example, on many occasions, [ have seen custody
officers close cell doors on people with mobility disabilities who are moving slowly and
have not made their way all the way into their cells. The officers act as if they believe that
there will no consequences for them from their supervisors no matter what they do, so they
treat us without any respect.

22. Thave been in CDCR prisons for about nine years of my life. I have been
housed at several prisons, including Ironwood, CRC, and Chino. The staff misconduct at
RJD is much worse than at any other CDCR prison where I have been housed.

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America
that the foregoing is true and correct, and that this declaration is executed at San Diego,

California this 29 day of January 2020.
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I, _, declare:

L. I have personal knowledge of the matters set forth herein, and if called as a
witness, I could and would competently so testify.

2. My California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation (“CDCR”)
number is - I am currently housed at California Medical Facility (“CMF”) in the
N2 Unit. I am 60 years old.

3. I was housed at Richard J. Donovan Correctional Facility (“RJD”) from
October 2015 through September 13, 2019. On September 13, 2019, I was transferred to
CMF and housed in N2 after a short layover at California Institution for Men (“CIM”).

4. During the entire time I was housed at RID, I was housed in Building 2 on
Facility A in cell |
5. I am an Armstrong class member. I have serious spinal and back problems,

as well as knee problems. I have had surgery on my knee. I am designated as DPM. I
cannot walk up any stairs, so I am issued a lower bunk and lower tier chrono. As
accommodations for my disability, I have a back brace, a knee brace, a walker, a
wheelchair, and a mobility impaired vest. I also experience urinary and bowel
incontinence related to my disability; I am provided with supplies to help me manage my
incontinence. I also have a restriction on lifting, a no rooftop or hazardous work
restriction, as well as a special cuffing restriction that requires me to be cuffed in front,
rather than behind my back. My disability was worsened by being assaulted by staff at
RID in September 2018.

6. I am a Coleman class member. I am at the EOP level of care. I have
depression and anxiety, and often experience paranoia and visual and auditory
hallucinations. To manage my mental health symptoms, I take Aripiprazole, which is an
antipsychotic medication. I also go to EOP group programming daily and speak with
clinician and psychiatrist frequently. While housed at RJID, my mental health symptoms

were about the same as they are now.
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7. I have a number of serious medical conditions. I have glaucoma, cataracts,
GERD, ulcerative colitis, and hyperlipidemia. I am classified as high risk medical. I am
also a chronic care patient, which means that my medical issues are closely monitored by
medical staff.

8. I was a victim of staff misconduct at RJD on multiple occasions. On or
around September 27, 2018, [ was in the dining hall on Facility A during breakfast. At the
time of the incident, I used a walker to get around and did not need to use a wheelchair. I
walked over to the tray window and got a tray of food. As I was walking away from the
tray window, I realized that the shell on my hard-boiled egg had been cracked. Ithen went
back to the food window and requested another egg, but the server denied me. So, I
grabbed a replacement egg from another tray that was at the window, put my cracked,
original egg on that tray, and then walked back to my seat.

9. As I was sitting down and eating, I observed an Investigative Services Unit
(“ISU”) officer, whose name I did not know, walk to the tray window and speak with the
server. I knew that he was an ISU officer because he was wearing a black patch, which is
only worn by ISU officers. After speaking with the server for a second, he walked over to
my table and asked me, “Who do you think you are? I would have eaten that egg at
home.” Iresponded to him by saying, “I’m not at home, I am in prison.” The ISU officer
then ordered me to get up and put my hands behind my back.

10. I got up and tried to put some paperwork I was holding into my pockets so I
could be cuffed. Before I could do so, the ISU officer pushed me against the wall. He
used one of his hands to slam my head against the wall, face first, and used his other hand
to push me in my back, forcing my body into the wall. I tripped and began to fall on the
floor, but caught myself before falling all the way to the ground. In the course of the
incident, I twisted my right ankle badly.

11.  AsIwas bent over in pain, the ISU officer began trying to cuff me behind
my back even though I had my walker with me at the time and I have a chrono which

requires me to be cuffed in the front of my body because of my disability. Before the ISU
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officer could cuff me, other officers in the dining hall approached him and told him that he
could not cuff me behind my back because I used a walker and needed to be cuffed in the
front. The ISU officer then fashioned a front cuff by linking two sets of regular handcuffs
in front of me. He then forced me to walk to the mental health building on Facility A.

12.  The mental health building is about 100 yards from the dining hall. The ISU
officer let me use my walker while escorting me, but he would not allow me to stop to
catch my breath or rest my ankle. My ankle was throbbing with pain, and I could hardly
put it down on the ground. As we began walking, I told the ISU officer that I was in
serious pain because of my injured ankle. The ISU officer told me to shut up and
continued escorting me. When we arrived at the mental health building, he placed me into
a holding cage.

13.  Approximately ten minutes later, a sergeant asked the ISU officer what
happened. The ISU officer then took the sergeant to the side, out of earshot, and spoke
with him. Then, the sergeant came over to me, and I told him what happened. In
response, he told me, “you know, we can write you up [i.e., issue me a Rules Violation
Report] for taking that egg.” 1 then told the sergeant that I was in pain, and I showed him
my swollen ankle and knee. He then went away for a moment. Once he came back, he
told the ISU officer, “we’re going to let this go, send him back to his building.” I was then
released back to my housing unit.

14.  After I walked back to my housing unit, I sat in my cell and went about my
day. When I came back to my cell after dinner, I noticed that there were a few large blood
stains in my boxers. I told housing unit staff, nurses then took my vitals in the unit, and
then they took me to the Treatment and Triage Area (“TTA”). After they performed tests,
they determined that there was no blood in my urine. I told medical staff at the TTA that I
had been assaulted by the ISU officer. Because the doctors did not think the blood came

from my urine, I believe that I was bleeding in my groin due to being assaulted earlier.
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15. Iwas never issued a Rules Violation Report (“RVR”) in connection with the
incident. I think that staff did not issue me an RVR because they were in the wrong and
they did not want the truth to come out.

16.  About a month later, I filed a 602 staff misconduct complaint about the
incident. A few days after I filed it, a lieutenant, a sergeant, and another staff member
interviewed me on video-camera in the Lieutenant’s Office on Facility A. The interview
lasted about 20 to 25 minutes. As part of the interview, they recorded that my ankles and
feet were still swollen from the incident.

17. A few days after the first video interview, I was called back to the
Lieutenant’s Office to conduct a second video interview. It went the same as the first
interview, but it was slightly shorter, around 15 minutes. I do not know why they
conducted a second interview with me.

18.  Ireceived aresponse to my 602 in January, 2020. From the time I submitted
the 602 until I received a response, RJD sent me eleven letters notifying me that they
needed more time to respond to my 602 due to the “complexity of the decision, action, or
policy.” When I received the final response, I learned that RJD had concluded that staff
had not violated CDCR policy.

19.  Asaresult of this incident, my disability. became a lot worse than it was
before the assault. After the incident, on October 22, 2018, medical staff changed my
disability code from DPM, meaning I could walk using an assistive device like a walker, to
DPO, meaning that I required a wheelchair to get around outside of my cell. I need